
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 12TH DECEMBER, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Service Annual 
Report 
To consider the attached report 1 - 18

4. Wellbeing Objective Living Well (LW3) - People 
Live Independently 
To consider the attached report 19 - 44

5. Caseloads - Children's Services 
To consider the attached report. 45 - 50

6. NEETS Strategy 2018 -2021 
To consider the attached report 51 - 76

7. Communities First Update report 
To consider the attached report 77 - 84

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive an update from the Chair

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

10. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
To receive an update from the Chair

11. Forward Work Programme 
To receive an update from the Chair 85 - 110



12. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor:  W R Smith (Chair)

Councillors: D Sammon, G Richards, T Rogers, 
I Thomas and C Tovey

Co-optees: B Lewis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Service Annual 
Report

1.0 REASON FOR THE REPORT
1.1 To provide information for the Scrutiny Committee on a work programme item.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the 

attached report, and identifies any further information it would like to receive. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 This item is on this scrutiny committees work programme:-
Monitoring & Scrutiny: The Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) 
brings together the adoption services of the Vale of Glamorgan Council, Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC, Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC.  The Annual Report will 
provide an analysis of the activity of Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative.

3.2 Annabel Lloyd of this Authority, Angela Harris and Rachel Evans (both from Vale of 
Glamorgan) are expected to attend the meeting to address the committee on this 
item.

SCRUTINY SECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Date Written 22nd November 2017
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Scrutiny
Committee Date 12th December 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC)

Annual Report: 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) provides a regional 
adoption service to the Vale of Glamorgan Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council, Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council.  VVC is 
one of the five regional Collaboratives which form part of the National Adoption 
Service in Wales (NAS). The Vale of Glamorgan Council hosts the Collaborative.

1.2 All adoption services are required to provide an annual review of their service as 
set out in Regulation 22 of the Local Authority Adoption Service (Wales) Regulations 
2007. In addition, Section 15 (c) of The Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint 
Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015 sets out the responsibilities of 
regional Collaboratives to report to the Director of Operations for the National 
Adoption Service on a quarterly and annual basis.

1.3 The legal agreement underpinning the operation of the Collaborative sets out the 
reporting requirements to partner local authorities. This report aims to encompass 
the various reporting requirements in one report. 

This is VVC’s second annual report and covers the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 
2017. 

Appendix 1 to the report sets out the performance data by quarter and local 
authority.

2. SERVICE AND GOVERNANCE STRUTURE

2.1 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative continues to be managed by a 
Regional Adoption Manager and three service specific managers for Family Finding, 
Adoption Support, and Recruitment and Assessment. The Adoption Support 
Manager’s post has been increased to full time on a temporary basis during this 
period.

2.2 Staff within the service have increasingly moved to working to their functional 
specialism during the year within the expectation that they will pick up work in other 
areas as the need arises. Managers within the service have developed a more 
strategic overview of the performance of the region which has helped to embed this 
in the culture of the region.

2.3 The service reviews undertaken into the specific functions performed by the 
Collaborative have fully highlighted the increased demands within the service and 
the shortfall in staffing resource to meet these demands. An Options Paper detailing 
the capacity issues and pressures across the whole service was presented to 
Management Board in November 2016. This report detailed the original assumptions 

Page 3



2

upon which the service structure and staffing within VVC was based, the current 
pressures and the increase in workload, and proposed a number of options to 
increase resource within the Collaborative to address the shortfalls in service.

2.4 This report was presented to the Directors of Social Services across the four 
authorities and Joint Committee in December 2016. The Directors agreed to the 
appointment of an additional staff member for Adoption Support utilising monies 
within the budget and to the extension of temporary staff within Adoption Support , 
pending the outcome of a Best Value Review of the whole service, that was then 
commissioned. 

2.5 The Review is being undertaken by an Officer from the Vale of Glamorgan 
Business Improvement Team and a Finance Officer from Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council.  A Project Brief and Plan has been put in place and a timetable set 
for finalisation and consideration of the Review.

2.6 VVC has experienced some resourcing issues during the second half of the year 
created by one full time Social Worker leaving to pursue agency work, one part time 
Social Worker leaving to pursue training and independent work, and three Social 
Work posts being reconfigured to accommodate a reduction in working hours. These 
vacancies were advertised and the region was successful in receiving a high number 
of applications for these posts which have enabled offers of appointment to be made. 
It is anticipated these posts will be filled by June 2017. The region has had to rely 
upon the employment of some short term agency cover in the interim.

2.7 The service has continued to be based in Ty Pennant, Pontypridd although RCT 
staff vacated the premises in October 2016 and  the licence to occupy the building 
transferred to Trivallis as new owners of the premises .The licence is in place until 
September 2018. The transfer of ownership has meant additional costs being placed 
upon the Collaborative in terms of payment of rates etc.

2.8 The pooled budget for the Collaborative is managed by the Vale of Glamorgan 
as the host and is monitored on a regular basis and reported to the Management 
Board and Joint Committee.  A Finance Technical Group has remained in place 
attended by the Finance Officers from each of the partner authorities.

 2.9 VVC’s governance structure is by way of a Management Board and Joint 
Committee. The Management Board has continued to meet bi-monthly.  Board 
meetings have been well represented and supported by Heads of Service from the 
partner authorities and membership from a Voluntary Adoption Agency and Health 
and Education representatives.  The Chair of the Board transferred to the Director of 
Social Services for Merthyr Tydfil CBC in line with the legal agreement in July 2016.

2.10 Standing agenda items for meetings include performance reporting, budget 
monitoring, service user and stakeholder engagement, VVC’s interface with local 
authority partners alongside reports from the Voluntary Sector, Health and Education 
representatives.  The Board also considers any items referred from the National 
Adoption Service Advisory Group and Governance Board. 

Page 4



3

2.11 The Management Board has considered reviews of all the service areas 
provided by the Collaborative during the year and considered reports in relation to 
capacity issues within the service. Specific performance measures such as the 
provision of Life Journey Material for children placed for adoption have been 
highlighted by the Board as areas for improvement and actions have been put in 
place to address any shortfall in practice.

2.12 The Director of Operations for NAS attended the VVC Management Board in 
September 2016 to present the NAS plan to address areas of national improvement, 
and again in July 2017 to present the NAS end of year report in respect of VVC’s 
performance.

2.13 A workshop on the role of the local authority Agency Decision Maker was   
commissioned by the Management Board and facilitated by AFA Cymru Legal 
Adviser in January 2017. This session drew upon the implications of case law and 
was attended by all Heads of Service and Agency Advisers.

2.14 The Joint Committee meets twice a year and is comprised of elected members 
from the four authorities. Joint Committee meetings were held in July and December 
2016.  The Joint Committee has responsibility for approving the annual plan for the 
service and annual budget.

3. SERVICE AREAS:

3.1 The National Adoption Service set the following priorities for service 
improvement during 2016-17:

●Placing children effectively and quickly
● Effective recruitment of adopters who are and are likely to become available for 
adoption.
● Improving adoption support.

These priorities formed the basis of VVC’s annual plan and the progress made in 
each of these service areas is evaluated below.

4 . Family Finding

4.1 The Family Finding Manager undertook a review of the Family Finding function 
within VVC which was presented to Management Board in September 2016. This 
aspect of the service has seen a marked rise in the number of children being 
referred for adoption and increase in workload overall. 

4.2 The region alongside other regional Collaboratives reports upon performance on 
a quarterly basis to NAS. The performance measures which make up the 
Performance Management Framework have increased during the year to take on 
board new measures particularly in relation to Adoption Support. The measures 

Page 5



4

monitor performance in relation to key stages in the adoption process. Some of 
these relate directly to local authority performance and some are shared jointly 
between the local authority and the Collaborative.

4.3 The recording of the number of children referred for adoption is a new measure 
although VVC previously recorded this data. VVC received a total 280 referrals for 
the year which represents a 66% increase from 2015-16. 81 children were placed for 
adoption which is an increase from 70 in the previous year. 

4.4 At the end of the reporting period 103 children had a ‘should be placed’ for 
adoption decision but had not been placed for adoption which is an increase on the 
previous quarter and previous returns and 95 children of these children were subject 
of a Placement Order. 

4.5 The region has recorded 113 Placement Orders being made during the year 
which also represents an increase of 70% on 2015-16. The number of Adoption 
Orders granted during the period is 65. This is a decrease on the previous year 
which may partly be due to more protracted Court proceedings in some instances as 
a result of legal challenges from birth parents. 

4.6 The measures in relation to the timeliness of the process from key decision 
making points to placement for adoption indicate an increase in the length of time it 
takes to place children.  In some instances overall timescales were skewed  by 
outliers i.e one or two children with more complex needs where it has taken much 
longer to place them for adoption. VVC is now more able to identify these children 
and explain the reasons for the delay as part of the reporting framework. 

4.6 On 31 March 2017, there were 10 children who had been waiting longer than six 
months for a match which is an increase on the previous year.The reasons for the 
delay in the placement of these children can be attributed to their range of needs 
which could not be easily met within the available adopter resource.

4.7 There were 3 placement disruptions during the year and no matches disrupted 
during introductions, which is a decrease on the previous year.

 4.8 In November 2016, the Adoption Support Manager undertook a review of early 
disruptions. This report covered a period of 4.5 years from April 2012 to October 
2016 with the aim of assisting our understanding of the factors associated with 
disruptions of adoption placements.

4.9 The process involved collation of data regarding disruptions pre –Adoption Order 
and reviewing the relevant matching/placement documents in each of these cases. 
This revealed that out of 394 placements made during this period, 21 disrupted 
which represents 5.33%.  A workshop was held for staff in late November 2016 to 
consider the findings and implications for practice.

Page 6



5

4.10 The number of birth parents referred to the service for counselling is collected 
on a quarterly basis although the take up of the service is collated annually. Overall 
take up in this area continues to pose significant challenges for the region as out of 
435 referrals for birth parent counselling received during the year only 126 parents 
took up the service. This represents a decrease on the previous year although the 
number of parents referred has increased by two hundred. The region has begun to 
pilot sending out information to birth parents in a less stigmatising form and so this 
will need to be evaluated to ascertain if this influences the level of take up in any 
way. VVC also continues to explore different venues and approaches to reach birth 
parents in an effort to improve performance. These figures take into consideration a 
number of parents who were unobtainable. 

4.11 The provision of Life Journey Material for children at their second adoption 
review has been a consistent agenda item for Management Board and action point 
for regional partners.  Some overall improvement in performance has been noted as 
a result of proactive measures taken by Heads of Service within the region; 61% of 
children had been provided with Life Journey Material at their second adoption 
review compared to 30% in 2015-16. 

4.12 Some of the initiatives developed to improve local practice and performance 
include the development of a new regional family finding process which builds upon 
national guidance developed by NAS.

4.13 The process requires a minimum of 12 weeks between the child being referred 
for adoption and the agency decision on adoption to ensure that there is sufficient 
time for the adoption medical to be completed and that the decision is not delayed.  
A pre-Placement Order meeting between Child’s Social Worker and VVC Family 
Finder has been added to the process to share information and complete paperwork 
prior to the making of the Placement Order in an effort to reduce delay. Staff 
resources within VVC and staff turnover with local authority teams has inhibited full 
implementation of the changes  in some cases but there have been ongoing 
discussions with LA partners as to how best to improve practice and reduce delay.

4.14 The Family Finding process developed within the region requires staff to be 
proactive in tracking plans and delays and to challenge Childcare Social Workers in 
relation to their family finding expectations.  Childcare Social Workers will also 
sometimes reject profiles of adopters they have considered previously which often 
necessitates challenge by the Family Finder.

4 .15 The Family Finding Manager and the Recruitment and Assessment Manager 
facilitate monthly Placement Meetings where children’s referrals are presented, their 
needs discussed and suitable adopters are considered. This ensures that decisions 
in relation to the need for external placement funding are completed in a timely way. 

Page 7



6

4.16 A family finding report is generated monthly which provides an analysis of how 
many placements have been made, the children who are waiting, their ages and the 
potential reasons for this to inform ongoing family finding. 

4.17 All children are referred or registered with the Wales AdoptionRegister to 
ensure that delay is minimised in family finding if there are no suitable VVC adopters. 

4.18 The region also purchased the licence for Link Maker, a national data base of 
children waiting which prospective adopters can access directly. VVC staff also 
attended and profiled 16 children at two national Coram BAAF/ Welsh Adoption 
Register Activity Days during the year. Activity days involve participation of children, 
their foster carers and Social Workers and direct interaction with prospective 
adopters. This has been a new experience for VVC but which has been found to be 
a useful alternative means of family finding. 

4.19 There is regular dialogue and meetings between the Medical Advisers and VVC 
Managers to ensure that issues which delay family finding /medicals are resolved 
and strategies to reduce recurrence are put in place.

4.20 A Children’s Guide has been created and provided to children and adopters

4.21 The Family Finding Manager provided the following overview of the numbers, 
ages and range of needs of children subject of a Placement Order on 31 March 
2017:

Currently there are 95 children with a Placement Order. This compares with 60 
children with Placement Orders at the end of 2015-16. The profile of needs we are 
family finding for are as follows:

Sibling Groups:

40 of the children are in a sibling group of 2.

There is 1 sibling group of 3. 

Matching Considerations:

6 children are defined as having an ethnicity which is not white British. 

8 children have additional health needs i.e. genetic condition/ foetal alcohol 
syndrome.

3 children have behavioural needs which would be considered to require therapeutic 
parenting. 

2 have to be placed outside of Wales due to risk from birth parents. 

Care Planning:

3 children are on hold due to a placement breakdown. 

Page 8



7

1 child is on hold due to a legal challenge from birth parents. 

2 are on hold whilst a placement with siblings is being explored. 

1 child is waiting due to a delay in receiving a profile to complete searches. 

8 have matches which are proceeding within VVC.

2 children have a change of care plan to long-term fostering.

14

32

7
9

12 13

7

1

0yr - 1yr 1yr - 2yr 2yr - 3yr 3yr - 4 yr 4yr - 5yr 6yr - 7yr 8yr - 9yr 9yr - 
10yr 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Ages of children with a Placement 
Order.

Ages of children with a Placement Order.

All of the children who are over 5 are either part of a sibling group or have needs 
which require therapeutic parenting. 

In addition to the above children there are 16 children where it is currently 
anticipated they will be placed with VVC adopters.

It is anticipated that 63 of the above children will require placement outside VVC due 
to availability of adopters who can meet the needs of a sibling group, children whose 
ethnicity is not white British, children requiring placement outside of Wales for safety 
reasons and those with additional health and behaviour needs. 

 4. 22 During 2016-17 VVC was in fact successful in placing a high proportion of 
children within the region (62 out of 81 placements).  Due however, to the reasons 
outlined above and a large percentage of the available stock of adopters having 
being used during the year, it is likely that more external placements will be required 
in the coming year.

Page 9



8

5. Recruitment & Assessment of adopters

5.1 A review of Recruitment and Assessment activity within the region was 
presented to the Management Board in November 2016. This area of activity is a 
significant one for the region and one which presents its’ own set of challenges in 
terms of being able to effectively recruit to meet our ongoing needs. 

5.2 The Performance Framework records key activity around enquiries, response 
times to enquiries, applications and timeliness in respect of approval of adopters. 
The returns in respect of adopter activity during the year represent some worrying 
trends. The region received 150 enquiries from prospective adopters in total which 
represents a 30% decrease on the previous year. Part of the reason for this may be 
explained when it was discovered during quarter 3  that email enquirers were not 
always being captured in the same way . Improvements have therefore been made 
to recording mechanisms to ensure that all email enquirers are recorded accurately.

 5.3 There has also been a slight decrease during the year in VVC’s response to 
enquiries within 5 working days which at year end totalled 99%. VVC has however, 
been able to track the enquiry where information was sent outside of this timescale 
and report this as part of the performance reporting. 

5.4 The region approved 47 adopter households compared with 55 in the previous 
year. Part of the reason for the decrease in approvals can be attributed to some of 
the capacity issues being experienced within the service resulting in staff involved in 
recruitment having to focus upon family finding. The other area of concern has been 
on relation to our overall performance in relation to the timeliness of assessments 
which has significantly deteriorated during the year to 12. 2 months which is 
significantly below the national benchmark of 8 months. The region is able to 
account for the delays and is now supplying an explanatory narrative to accompany 
the return in respect of this measure.  Again it is evident that the increased workload 
in other areas of the service has significantly impacted upon timescales in respect of 
this area of work.

5.5 Some of the measures VVC has put in place to address the gaps in recruitment 
have been to develop the initial approach to recruitment. In line with national 
direction, VVC has developed a targeted approach to recruitment with the intention 
of increasing the breadth of age range and needs that prospective adopters would 
feel confident parenting.  Improved analysis of the children being referred and 
requiring placement has also informed this process.   

5.6 The evidence which has also emerged from the analysis of adoption support 
within the region has also helped shape the information provided to prospective 
adopters at the initial stage. VVC has taken the approach that those interested in 
adoption should be provided with more information on the needs of children at a far 
earlier stage in the process in order for them to make a more informed decision 
around whether adoption is the right choice for them.  To this end VVC has 

Page 10



9

revamped the format of their information evenings, which are currently held bi-
monthly, to provide a comprehensive information pack which attendees are invited to 
digest before progressing to an initial visit from a Social Worker. 

5.7 As a result of this approach there has been some decline in the numbers of 
people seeking an initial visit and some potential applicants may delay before 
making contact about an initial visit.  This approach has however yet to show a 
marked difference in the numbers coming forward for siblings and a number of those 
approved for more than one child have gone on to be matched with a single child.  
The recruitment of families for siblings and children with additional needs remains a 
challenge.

 5.8 The region has invested in the service of a part time Marketing Officer employed 
by NAS.  A project group has been established with her support and the IT 
Department to develop VVC’s website which is now nearing completion. Three 
members of staff will receive training in order to be able to update the website.  The 
website will provide a useful mechanism to monitor enquiries from prospective 
adopters and the different geographical areas, information which can be used to 
target future marketing.

5. 9 There had been a noticeable decline in relation to enquiries from Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan, both areas which have previously generated a significant 
number of enquiries with no need for active awareness raising. It therefore felt that 
should this trend continue then consideration would need to be given to more active 
awareness raising within these geographical areas in the coming year.

 5.10 Towards the end of the reporting period, the decline in enquirers seeking an 
initial visit as evidenced during quarter 3 appears to be showing signs of reversing. 
Information evenings held in January and February 2017 produced a significant 
number of initial visits compared to the previous quarter and this has resulted in an 
increase in the number of adopters attending the most recent Preparing to Adopt 
training course held at the end of the year. 

5.11 As of 31st March 2017 there were 29 assessments being completed by the 
region, with 11 first time assessments and one second time assessment awaiting 
allocation. 

5.12 Over the past year there has been a conscious effort, wherever possible, to 
allocate assessments to those workers specialising in recruitment and assessment.  
There are significant benefits to this approach in building expertise and skill but 
improvements to performance have not been seen due to those staff also 
undertaking generic work.  Assessment plans and mid-point reviews are now more 
routinely established to improve practice and timeliness

5.13 VVC continues to receive high numbers of non-agency adoption referrals, the 
majority of which are from step parents wishing to adopt their step child. This is not 

Page 11



10

an area currently collated by NAS. As a result of having to prioritise the recruitment 
of adopters for children waiting to be adopted, this area of work now has a growing 
waiting list.

6. Adoption Support

6.1 Improving adoption support services within the region has also remained 
consistently challenging . The Adoption Support Manager has undertaken regular 
reviews of the service to assess ongoing service needs, shortfalls and resource 
implications.  The workload in this area is high and data collected since the 
establishment of the Collaborative indicates that it has increased significantly in key 
areas.

6.2 In April 2016, NAS introduced a range of measures in respect of Adoption 
Support which are collated and reported upon each quarter. During the past year 83 
requests for adoption support services have been received representing a 54% 
increase on the previous year and this support had been provided in 61 cases. In 
terms of Access to Birth Records requests, 66 referrals were received during the 
year which represents a slight decrease from 70 having been received in 2015-2016. 
34 requests for intermediary services were received during the period which is an 
increase of 79% from the previous year when only 19 were received. Open letterbox 
cases have also increased from 636 at the end of 2015-16 to 767 on 31 March 2017.

6.3 The workload within the team has posed difficulties in terms of prompt allocation 
and there is a backlog of unallocated work in all these areas.  As outlined previously 
temporary measures utilising underspend monies from 2015-16 have been put in 
place to address some of the service deficits. The Manager’s role has been 
increased to full time and two part- time Social Workers have been employed to 
manage the letterbox system and to clear some of the waiting list for ABR, as a pilot 
exercise to enhance the staffing resource within the Adoption Support Team. An 
additional Social Work post has also been agreed and an appointment has been 
made. In addition, the Directors have agreed to the extension of the pilot into 2017-
18 pending the outcome of the Best Value Review of the service.

6.4 Another aspect of the plan put in place to improve adoption support has focused 
upon training and support of adopters and training staff.  Membership of Adoption 
UK was secured for the region and a Non Violent Resistance training programme for 
adoptive families was facilitated by Adoption UK. This course was run for 20 families 
with the support of two VVC staff and concluded in November 2016. 

6.5 One of the adopters who attended the training has set up a quarterly peer 
support group supported by Adoption UK for a year. 

6.6 The service has also invested some resources in upskilling staff within the team 
to more adequately support adoptive families. Training in therapeutic interventions 
and approaches has been provided for staff to improve practice.

Page 12



11

6.7 Staff within the Adoption Support Team are experienced and committed to 
service improvement. Quarterly support groups have been established to address 
key issues for adoptive families, in addition to the maintenance of monthly toddler 
groups which provides opportunities for early intervention as well as bi-annual fun 
days which have high attendances. 

6. 8 A family fun day was held in November 2016 which was well attended. It has 
been noted that attendances at the bi-annual fun days are increasing to around 100 
children with the result that alternative venues will have to be explored for future 
days. There have been two workshops run for adoptive parents in respect of life 
story work. Other topics covered in support groups have dealt with managing contact 
issues and managing behaviour. 

6.9 Within the team, there is a commitment to improve the provision of services to all 
families requiring support through the means outlined above and there is a 
commitment to develop services further. There is a need to develop consultation and 
information mechanisms with adoptive families but this has been delayed due to 
capacity within the team. There has been a delay in being able to produce the 
newsletter for families but it is anticipated that the development of the website will 
provide a much needed source of information for families and adopted adults. 

6.10 During the past year, which was VVC’s first full year of operation, the service 
has been able to develop a clearer picture of the demand for targeted and 
therapeutic services with families needing support and the cost of these to the local 
authorities.  At present the adoption support budget is not held centrally in the region 
and is retained by the individual local authorities. This has posed some challenge in 
terms of equity of service and timeliness of decision making, but generally local 
authority partners concur with the assessment undertaken by VVC and packages of 
support are being put in place as needed. 

6.11 In the autumn of 2016, NAS produced a national framework to improve 
adoption support services and commissioned the Institute of Public Care (IPC) to 
produce a business case and action plan to develop the framework across Wales. 
As part of this work a national Project Board was set up to oversee the plan which 
the Regional Manager and Adoption Support Manager have been actively involved 
in. Members of the Management Board and regional stakeholder representatives 
have also met with IPC to contribute to the national discussions regarding improving 
adoption support across Wales. 

7. ADOPTION PANEL

7.1 The Collaborative operates a joint regional Panel from two sittings, a north sitting 
covering RCT and Merthyr and south sitting covering Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan.

7.2 The workload of the Panel remains high and Panel meetings are now scheduled 
four times a month.  During 2016-17, the north sitting met twenty times, three Panels 
were cancelled due to no cases being presented.The south sitting met twenty three 

Page 13



12

times, one Panel was re-arranged due to quoracy issues and three were cancelled 
because no cases were booked in. 

7.3 VVC’s Panel recommended 51 approvals to adopt, 1 review of approval, 75 
matches of children with prospective adopters and 3 recommendations for children 
to be adopted in the cases of 3 relinquished children.

7.4 A significant area of development for the Panel is to move to a digital system. 
Tablets have been issued to Panel members and a licence with Egress obtained to 
enable secure transfer of Panel information. Panel members have received training 
on the new system and some trialling has taken place with a view to full 
implementation.

7.5 Maintenance of the central list of Panel members serving two sittings has caused 
some difficulties to the Collaborative in terms of available independent members and  
available Social Workers to become Panel members. Some recruitment of new 
members has taken place and induction and training is scheduled for the first quarter 
of next year.

7.6 Capacity issues within the management team have inhibited progress in 
conducting annual reviews of Panel members which will need to be prioritised in the 
coming year.

8. COMPLAINTS AND COMPLIMENTS

8.1 During 2016- 17, the region received two complaints.

8.2 The first complaint was from prospective adopters who had come forward for a 
specific child. The Family Finding Social Worker and Childcare Social Worker had 
visited the couple and decided not to proceed further with the enquiry for a number 
of reasons. The couple complained about the decision, the content of the initial visit 
and the approach of the Family Finding Social Worker. The complaint was 
investigated by the Recruitment and Assessment Manager and resolved at Stage 1.

8.3 The second complaint was from another couple following VVC’s decision not to 
proceed to the application stage due to the male applicant’s psychiatric condition.  
This was dealt with under Stage 1 by the Regional Adoption Manager.  Following this 
the male applicant made representation to NAS and a meeting has now taken place 
with the couple, NAS Policy Officer and the Regional Adoption Manager to explain 
the reasons for VVC’s decision.

8.4 Both these complaints have similarities and concern complaints from couples 
who have complained about the decision not to proceed with an adoption application 
or link.  The Complaints Procedure is the only mechanism available for making 
representations against a decision not to take up an application to adopt and does 
not afford potential applicants the right to make representations to an independent 
review mechanism which highlights a gap in existing regulations.

Page 14



13

8.5 There have been eleven compliments and records of thanks received during the 
year. Two of these have been from birth relatives; one from a grandmother in relation 
to the management of direct contact with adopters and one from a birth mother in 
respect of their letterbox contact. One of the compliments was from a voluntary 
agency expressing their satisfaction in working with VVC regarding the placement of 
a child with additional needs. The other compliments have been from adoptive 
parents and prospective adopters expressing their gratitude for the support and 
service they have received from regional staff.

9. CONCLUSION

9.1 The first full year of operation of the Collaborative has provided an opportunity for 
further consolidation of the service and to build upon the performance of the region 
in the initial year .The region has maintained and improved performance in key areas 
such as the matching and placement of children for adoption and the provision of 
Life Journey Material. It is however apparent that the increased workload in terms of 
referrals of children for adoption, children waiting for placements and for adoption 
support services has impacted upon performance in other areas, particularly the 
timely recruitment and assessment of adopters.  This coupled with the downturn in 
the number of enquiries received from prospective adopters makes effective 
recruitment of adopters a key priority going forward.

9.2 Capacity and resourcing issues within the service have featured significantly 
during the period but it is hoped that the forthcoming review of the service will assess 
whether the current structure and staffing is fit to meet the current demands placed 
upon the service to ensure that performance is improved during the coming year.

10. FUTURE PRIORITIES

10.1 Capacity issues and workload pressures within the regional management team 
has impacted upon key service developments and has resulted in the need to carry 
forward some of the priorities identified in year one. 

10.2 Our priorities for 2017-18 will focus upon focus upon key activities required to 
improve performance in respect of our core service areas.

10.3 There is an urgent need to develop a recruitment and marketing strategy for 
adopters and to increase our available adopter resource to better meet the needs of 
children being referred and ensure more timely placements.

10.4 Other priorities to support our infrastructure and create efficiencies will be to 
induct and  train new Panel members, complete annual reviews of existing  members 
and secure full implementation of the digital Panel.

Page 15



14

10.5 Finally, the region will need to be able to absorb the findings arising from the 
development of the national framework for adoption support and continue to look to 
ways to better support adoptive families and engage them in the development of 
services.

Angela Harris
Regional Adoption Manager
September 2017

Page 16



1

120

13

119

28

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

200

Children referred by LA 
2016-17

59

4
42

9

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

100

Placement Orders by LA 2016-
17

37

9

28

7

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

10

20

30

40

Children placed by LA 2016-17

190

22

175

48

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

100

200

Birth Parent Counselling 
referrals by LA 2016-17

50

7

38

15

40

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale Non VVC 
or not 
known

0
20
40
60

Adopter Enquiries by LA 
2016-17

18

6

18

5

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

10

20

Adopters Approved by LA 
2016-17

15

5

20
12

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

20

40

Non-Agency Requests by LA 
2016-17

Appendix 1 VVC Annual Report 2016-17

Family Finding:

Recruitment and Assessment:

Page 17



2

15
22 22 24

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 
0

20

40

Quarterly Adoption Support 
Referrals 2016-17

28

9

30

17

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

10

20

30

40

Referrals by LA 2016-17

10

26 17
13

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
0

50

Access to Birth Records 
Quarterly 2016-17:

25

1

24
16

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

10

20

30

Access to birth records by LA 
(2016-17)

8
5

11 10

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
0

20

Intermediary by Quarter 
(2016-17)

15

1
7 8

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale
0

20

Intermediary by LA (2016-
17)

Post-Adoption Support:

Page 18



Civic Centre,  Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil,  CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000,  www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Wellbeing Objective Living Well (LW3) - People live independently

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. We have set wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on how 
we intend to achieve the objectives set out in our Plan ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing 
in our Community’.  The focus of this report is to demonstrate how we will ensure we 
will maximise our opportunities to develop the environment and infrastructure for 
businesses to flourish through a series of wellbeing projects.

1.2. This report focuses on the specific wellbeing projects that the Council will undertake to 
deliver its wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals in these 
fields.

1.3. There are 4 wellbeing projects which are currently being delivered:

 Well-being Website for Children and Young People;
 Equality learning resource;

Date Written Tuesday, 28 November 2017

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones
Project Leads Mark Anderton

Angela Edevane
Annabel Lloyd
Suzanne Lewis Abbott
Kerry O’Donovan

Wellbeing Champion Anthony Lewis

Committee Date Tuesday, 12 December 2017

Page 19

Agenda Item 4

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


 Evaluate the Stay Well @Home Service; and
 Supporting People Pricing System (Cost Calculator).

1.4. This report establishes the baseline for these 4 wellbeing projects and highlights 
progress made in delivering these projects.  This will be reported to scrutiny at future 
meetings.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. The content of this report to be discussed and noted. 

Page 20



3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent services.  It will do this by delivering its 
key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The key strategies 
that focus on delivering excellent services via ‘business as usual’ and key projects are:

 Strategic Equality Plan (2016-2020)
 Cwm Taf Ageing Well in Wales Plan
 Local Commissioning Plan 2017-20
 Cwm Taf Supporting People Regional Strategic Plan 2017-20 

3.2. In our plan [Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community], we set out how we 
intend to achieve the Wellbeing Objectives.  The purpose of this report is to coordinate 
the performance and project information against our Wellbeing Objective "People live 
independently”.

Legislative Context
3.3. 1The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

3.4. We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 
means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There 
are 5 things that we need to do in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five things are:

 Long Term
 Preventative
 Involvement
 Collaboration
 Integrated

1 Read the essential guide to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

Page 21

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2130/merthyr-tydfil-county-borough-council-strategic-equality-plan-for-2016-2020.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2398/cwm-taf-ageing-well-in-wales-plan-v11-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2936/lcp-2017-20-2.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3173/rsp_2017-20__revised_with_spend_plan_-eng.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf


3.5. 2The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

4. WHERE WE WERE

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing3, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment4 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement
4.2. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

People live independently

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

4.3. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required 
to promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community.

4.4. From a Merthyr Tydfil perspective, the key components to support people to live 
independently include:

 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home

2 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014
3 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
4 Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 22

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people 
with protected characteristics

5. OUR CONTRIBUTION

Reference to Performance and Projects
(Full details for all projects and performance measures in the Appendix I)

5.1. This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake to deliver our 
wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals.  For "People live 
independently" there are 4 wellbeing projects:

 Well-being Website for Children and Young People;
 Equality learning resource;
 Evaluate the Stay Well @Home Service; and
 Supporting People Pricing System (Cost Calculator).

5.2. Key measures of performance (KPI)

5.3. We will judge how well these projects improve the wellbeing of people who live 
independently by using the following key indicators.

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17
Achieved

2017/18
Target

2017/18
Actual to 

Date

2018/19
Target

The % of people that received the right 
information or advice when they needed it. 79.1% 80% Annual Data -

% of admissions for people aged 61+ with a 
zero Level of Stay (LOS) 19.20 -5 20.62

(to date) -5

Number of people supported through the 
SP Programme each financial year.  766 N/A 353

(to date) -

The percentage of adults who completed a 
period of reablement and have a reduced 
package of care and support 6 months later

19.77 -6 Annual Data -6

The percentage of the adult population who 
can live independently 95.99 - Annual Data -

5 The target is to increase the % of admissions for people aged 61+ with a zero Level of Stay (LOS).
6 There are no targets and ranks available for 2016 / 2017 due to issues encountered with implementation of the 
measures. Data is published at an all Wales level with no accompanying sub-national detail.  Welsh Government 
will revise the framework in due course.

Page 23



6. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. By monitoring key performance indicators, business as usual indicators and the 
outcomes of the projects we are delivering, we will know things are better when:

 More service users received the right information or advice when they needed it;
 More service users can live independently;
 The time to deliver adaptations using the disabled facilities grant process reduce;
 More service users complete a period of reablement with no package of care; and
 More service users complete a period of reablement with a reduced package of 

care.

7. WHERE WE ARE NOW

7.1. The Local Authority commissioned ‘Write Media’ to assist in developing a digital 
platform for young people. Consultation events have been conducted with various youth 
groups in Merthyr Tydfil and we have listened to what they feel would be useful. A 
meeting was held on the 7th November 2017 to explore what was shared in the 
consultation events.

7.2. In respect of the Equality Learning Resource two factsheets have already been 
developed for Disability and Sexual Orientation. 

7.3. There has been a significant review of the Stay Well @ Home project for the first 6 
months which has identified measureable improvement in a number of the key 
indicators. However, It is too early to say if the percentage of emergency admissions 
aged 61+ with 5+ days levels of stay has decreased.

7.4. The Supporting People Planning Group (SPPG) took a decision to adopt a fair pricing 
system for all supporting people schemes in Merthyr Tydfil, which would be introduced 
in April 2018 following consultation with all providers of the current schemes. 

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1. The website to be developed using the ideas from the consultation events. Ongoing 
development work with the young people and ‘Write Media’. 

8.2. With regards the Equality Learning Resource further fact sheets are to be developed on 
the protected characteristics. Also a mapping exercise to be undertaken to identify 
which staff should receive supplementary training on practical advice and examples 
using what we have learned.

8.3. A further more detailed review of the entire Stay Well @ Home Service will be 
undertaken following a year’s worth of operation.

Page 24



8.4. With regards the supporting people project there will be further consultation from now 
and up to the first quarter of 2018 in respect of the policy.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES 

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Statement of Wellbeing
 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community
 People live independently Strategy on a Page 

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 25



APPENDIX 1

Well-being Website for Children and Young People 
(a) Project Information

Project Title Well-being Website for Children and Young People 

Project Manager Gareth Kedward 

Report Period From August 2017 Report Period To November 2017

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis Jones

Services Children Social Services

Wellbeing Objective People Live Independently

Component(s) Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and 
support

Project Description This project will enable the Council to strengthen its approach to early 
intervention and potentially prevent escalation of difficulties to situations 
that require more intensive, specialist intervention.

Well-being means a person is happy, healthy and is comfortable with 
their life and what they do. Therefore, Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services 
has carried out consultation with a range of young people. The IAA Digital 
platform for Young People will take account of the following findings from 
the consultation:

 Young people did not know how or where  to access information   
about how to get help ( linked to their well-being);

 Young people feel it’s important to get accurate information to 
help them make the right choices;

 Young people want to know what to do next if they don’t like 
decisions that are made about them; and

 Young people prefer to use social media to access information 
and Apps were highly rated.

Expected Benefits  Improved information available to Young People. 

Rationale for the Project The Social Services and Well-being Act introduces the duty to provide 
Information, Advice and Assistance. The purpose of Information, Advice 
and Assistance (IAA) is to provide the public with an opportunity to meet 
their needs by preventative means.

The Welsh Government has published a Well-being Statement to set out 
what this means. It has been put together with the people who use and 
deliver social services.
It says well-being is made up of eight main parts:
• Making sure you have your rights 
• Being physically, mentally and emotionally happy 

Page 26



• You are protected from abuse, harm and neglect 
• Having education, training, sports and play 
• Positive relationships with family and friends 
• Being part  of the community
• Having a social life and enough money to live a healthy life
• Having a good home

The partners involved in commissioning this work are Cwm Taf University 
Health Board and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. Acknowledging 
that young people favour social networking, it has been decided that a 
website, hosted by the local authority will be developed with a social 
networking campaign to attract young people’s attention to the website. 
This commission focusses upon the duty to provide Information.

Start Date September 2017

Finish Date 31st March 2018

Highlight Report Author Gareth Kedward

Key Actions 

 In order to develop a Digital Platform, the local authority commissioned the company 
Write Media for the project. 

 Consultation event were conducted with various Youth Group within Merthyr Tydfil
 Consultations identified what Young people want and feel would be useful to them. 
 Young Persons steering group identified at Forsythia to lead on the project with 

Writemedia  

(b) Project Performance

SURVEY DATA The percentage of people that received the right information or advice when 
they needed it

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA RankQualitative (Children 
aged 7-17) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (%) - - - 79.1 80

Numerator 212

Denominator 268

In addition to the measure above when the website is completed, we will record and monitor 
the usage of the site to determine if the project has had a positive impact on this objective.

Page 27



(c) Project Evaluation

Even though a lot has been done and achieved we are way behind schedule and that is due to 
a few different factors, namely:

 Youth Forum Staff Capacity as they work part time and have several other projects 
running at the same time. 

 Carrying out engagement and consultation events at dates and times that are suitable 
for young people. 

 The summer holidays, where access to groups of young people is difficult.
 Poor number of competition entries. 
 Dedicated staff time to support and drive the project plan 

Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Targets for the next period

A meeting was arranged for the 7th November 2017 with Write media to look at what has been 
produced in the Digital Platforms background using the intelligence gained from the 
consultation events. 

 Layout options will be presented to the Young Person’s Group for further views and 
agree going forward.

 Website will be populated with the topics already prioritised from past engagement 
events.

 Ongoing development with Young People and Writemedia
 Council IT department to take over the hosting of the website 

 (d) Project Risks and Issues

No Identified risks or issues.   

Page 28



Equality learning resource  
(a) Project Information

Project Title Equality learning resource  

Project Manager Kerry O’Donovan

Report Period From September 2017 Report Period To October 2017

Accountable for Delivery Mark Thomas

Services Corporate Services - Equalities

Wellbeing Objective People Live Independently

Component(s) Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society 
for people with protected characteristics

Project Description Working with the Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-ordinator 
and in consultation with the Community Voice MAGNET Project (Merthyr 
Achieving Greater Networking and Engagement Together) the purpose of 
the project is to support and facilitate equalities training and learning by 
creating an Equality Learning Resource for staff and Councillors. This will 
involve:
 Developing one factsheet for each of the 9 protected characteristics.
 Deliver supplementary training for staff to provide practical advice and 

examples using what we have learned.

Expected Benefits  Improving our knowledge of national and local equality issues by 
protected characteristic.

 Improving our understanding of our customers.
 The Council promotes equalities in the workplace. 
 It will act as a knowledge resource for staff when completing the 

Council’s new Integrated Impact Assessment.

Rationale for the Project Understanding our Communities and Equality Awareness Raising has 
been identified as Equality Objectives in the Council Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2016-2020. 
As part of the Public Sector Equality Duty the Council is required to 
provide staff with equality training.

Producing this Equality Learning Resource will support delivery of the 
Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and help the Local Authority to comply 
with the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty.

Start Date September 2017

Finish Date September 2018

Highlight Report Author Kerry O’Donovan

Page 29



Key Actions

 Develop one factsheet for each of the 9 protected characteristics.
 Working in consultation with Chief Officers, Heads of Service and Managers to undertake a 

mapping exercise to identify which staff should receive supplementary training on practical 
advice and examples using what we have learned (Jan18 – Apr 18).

(b) Project Performance

Use the outcomes from the mapping exercise to develop performance measures.

(c) Project Evaluation

To date two fact sheets have been developed for Disability and Sexual Orientation. A link to 
the fact sheets on the Council’s Intranet has been sent to all staff and Councillors via email. 
The email also set out the purpose and benefits of the fact sheets

A judgement of good has been given as feedback to date on the fact sheets have been 
positive. Comments include:

 “They look good.” 
 “They are very interesting and I think this series is a great idea.”
 “Glad to see that you will be working with MAGNET on doing some factsheets on the 

various protected characteristics.”
 “Education on some of these subjects is a great idea and it’s so refreshing to see the 

Council taking these issues seriously and moving with the times.”

In addition to this, other local Councils have identified the project as good practice for the 
following reasons below and want to develop this Equality Learning Resource within their own 
respective Local Authorities: 

 Beneficial for staff and Councillors.
 A valuable resource to all organisations. 
 Help to raise staff awareness on equalities issues.

Through this project the Council continue to benefit significantly from working in partnership 
with MAGNET to gain intelligence from these local groups. 

Targets for the next period

 Develop 3 further Fact Sheets on the protected characteristics. 

JUDGEMENT Good

Page 30



 Undertake a mapping exercise to identify which staff should receive supplementary 
training on practical advice and examples using what we have learned (Jan18 – Apr 
18).

(d) Project Risks

No Risks have been identified

(e) Project Issues

Assessment of 
Issue

Issue
No.

Issue
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 The lottery funding for the 
MAGNET portfolio of projects 
ends on 31st March 2018.

3 Unable to consult 
with the 
MAGNET 
portfolio of 
projects in the 
development of 
the fact sheets 
and gain 
intelligence from 
these local 
groups.

Continue 
to consult 
with the 
MAGNET 
portfolio of 
projects.

Kerry 
O’Donovan

Continue 
with 
identified 
actions.

Page 31



Evaluate the Stay Well @Home Service
(a) Project Information

Project Title Evaluate the Stay Well @Home Service

Project Manager Mark Anderton / Angela Edevane

Report Period From April 2017 Report Period To November 2017

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones

Services Adult Services

Wellbeing Objective People live independently

Component(s) Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home

Project Description The new Stay Well @Home service consists of two key areas.  The first 
area establishes hospital teams at the Royal Glamorgan Hospital in 
Llantrisant and Prince Charles Hospital to provide Occupational Therapy, 
Physiotherapy, Social Workers and Assistant Therapy Practitioners.  The 
second area is the development of a range of community based 
responses.  The primary focus of the hospital and community based 
services is to support people to return home with the necessary support 
and prevent avoidable admissions to hospital. 

The service is now operational and as it part of a complex system of 
health and social care services the key area that the project will focus on 
now is the evaluation of the impact of the service on service users and 
the 3 partner organisations

Expected Benefits The overarching measures of success for the Stay Well @Home Service 
are:

 A reduction in people admitted to a hospital bed from A&E 
 An increase in numbers admitted but returning home earlier 
 A reduction for those transferred to a community hospital 

Rationale for the Project The Stay Well @Home service was a newly implemented service to 
improve the transition between hospital and community based social 
services.  The service will need to be monitored closely to understand the 
effectiveness of the new service.  This project will focus on measurement 
and evaluation of the service during its first year of operation as the new 
service aims to improve communication and performance across health 
and social care services in Cwm Taf.

Start Date April 2017

Finish Date March 2018

Highlight Report Author Angela Edevane

Page 32



Key Actions

An evaluation report covering the first six months of operation has been prepared that has 
focussed on the impact of the implementation of the service in achieving the overarching 
outcomes. (Full report available)

(b) Project Performance

SOURCE % of admissions for people aged 61+ with a zero Level of Stay (LOS) 

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

Cwm Taf 20.53 20.72 20.62
(to date)

Numerator 953 980 1933

Denominator 4643 4730 9373

SOURCE % of admissions for people aged 61+ with a zero Level of Stay (LOS)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Cwm Taf - - 18.19 19.20

Numerator - - 3255 3667

Denominator - - 17897 19102

SOURCE % of emergency admissions aged 61+ with 5+ days Levels of Stay (LOS)

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

Cwm Taf 45.44 44.42 44.93
(to date)

Numerator 2110 2101 4211

Denominator 4643 4730 9373

Page 33



SOURCE % of emergency admissions aged 61+ with 5+ days Levels of Stay (LOS)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Cwm Taf - - 48.65 47.27

Numerator - - 8707 9030

Denominator - - 17897 19102

SOURCE % of those transferred to a community hospital

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

Cwm Taf 9.01 7.04 8.03
(to date)

Numerator 420 333 753

Denominator 4643 4730 9373

SOURCE % of those transferred to a community hospital

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Cwm Taf - - - 9.24

Numerator - - - 1765

Denominator - - 17897 19102

In addition to these there are a suite of additional performance measures that incorporate both 
qualitative and quantitative data.

(c) Project Evaluation

Though the service is still in its formative stage and a full year of data will provide further 
confirmation initial evaluation of the first 6 months of the service early indications is that the 

JUDGEMENT Good

Page 34



combined hospital and community elements of the Stay Well @ Home services are supporting 
the living well wellbeing objective through supporting people to remain at home.

In addition to the quantitative data collected qualitative views have been sought from service 
users and the following are examples of the feedback received:

“What a fantastic service, especially as my mother came home on a bank holiday, which we 
never thought would have”. (Daughter of Service User – PCH)

“Thank you for taking the time to listen, I now feel that my mother will get the support she 
needs and my father will start accepting more support at home.  The experience has turned 
from a negative, from coming into hospital after my mother fell, to actually having a positive 
impact on my mother and father’s care and support”.  (Service User’s Daughter – PCH)

“Thank you for getting me home, I can sleep in my own bed tonight” (Service User – RGH)

Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Targets for the next period

The winter period is a significant pressure time for both health & social care services and will 
prove a challenge. It is recommended that continued monitoring of the Stay Well@Home 
Service is undertaken throughout the winter period to provide further assurance of 
sustainability and deliverability.  Those service elements which are not yet fully implemented, 
as per the original business case, should work towards becoming operational as soon as 
possible. 

A further more detailed review of the entire Stay Well@Home Service should be under taken 
following a years’ worth of operation. 

(d) Project Risks

(e) Project Issues

Page 35



Supporting People Pricing System (Cost Calculator) 

(a) Project Information

Project Title Supporting People Pricing System (Cost Calculator) 

Project Manager Mark Anderton / Suzanne Lewis-Abbott

Report Period From April 2017 Report Period To November 2017

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis Jones

Services Supporting People
Supported Placements

Wellbeing Objective People Live Independently

Component(s) Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home

Project Description The Supporting People (SP) Programme provides essential help to some 
of our most vulnerable individuals. The Merthyr Tydfil Supporting People 
(SP) Team commission services based on local need to provide housing-
related support to vulnerable members of the community to promote 
independence and prevent homelessness. The team administers the 
gateway referral process (referrals come in to one single point of access), 
monitor and review existing projects, analyse annual referral data and 
report programme-specific outcomes to Welsh Government (bi-annually). 

The Housing-Related Support available is tailored to individuals’ needs to 
promote independence as much as possible and assist people in 
developing the required skills to maintain and sustain tenancies, 
supporting people to gain these necessary skills with a ‘doing with’ and 
not ‘doing for’ approach to enable and equip people to live confidently 
and cohesively within their community.7

Some of the vulnerable groups to which the Programme provides much 
needed support include:
• Men and Women experiencing Domestic Abuse
• People with Mental Health Issues
• People with Alcohol/Substance Misuse Issues
• People with Learning Disabilities
• People with Physical and/or Sensory Disabilities
• Young People with Support Needs
• Generic/Floating Support to those or who at risk of Homelessness

The purpose of the pricing policy will be to achieve equity, consistency 
and fairness when contracting for housing-related support schemes under 
the SP Programme.  

7 Examples of the eligible housing related support are included on the Cwm Taf Allowable Activities document: 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3344/supporting-people-allowable-activities-eng.pdf

Page 36

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3344/supporting-people-allowable-activities-eng.pdf


Any funded released will be utilised to support more vulnerable people 
through the supporting people programme.

Expected Benefits  Increased support (number of outcomes achieved/people supported) 
through the Supporting People Programme with the same level of 
funding. 

Rationale for the Project The Merthyr Tydfil Supporting People Team moved from unit based 
commissioning to hours based commissioning to satisfy audit 
requirements. These changes resulted in the identification of distinct 
variances in hourly rates across providers with no clear rationale for these 
differences. In addition to this, many of the current commissioned projects 
were based on a redundant Supporting People Revenue Grant tariff.  

The Supporting People Planning Group (SPPG) took a decision to adopt 
a fair pricing system: The Cost Calculator (based on the key principles of 
the Newport model) for all Supporting People schemes in Merthyr Tydfil, 
to be introduced in April 2018 following consultation with all providers of 
current schemes.  The policy determines a fair hourly unit rate and 
therefore the total Supporting People Grant which will be paid to 
contracted schemes; the rate is primarily based on salary levels paid by 
the employers to their support staff.

The Cost Calculator will not only ensure a fair and consistent process to 
calculate unit costs but also to realise efficiency savings to invest in areas 
of greatest need locally.

Start Date April 2017

Finish Date March 2019

Highlight Report Author Suzanne Lewis-Abbott

Key Actions

 Significant work will be undertaken in the consideration of transitional protection
 Regular contact with providers will be maintained to ensure service users experience 

minimum (if any) disruption.
 Financial savings to be recorded and utilised to invest in future schemes based on local 

need.
 Key consultation with stakeholders and across Local Authority departments to inform 

future contracts and services being developed to meet areas of greatest need to 
eventually look at developing off the shelf registers for projects to be commissioned 
once funding becomes available

 Continue recording numbers of people accessing Supporting People Services

(b) Project Performance

Page 37



Local Measure Number of people supported through the SP Programme each financial year.  

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 155 198 353 (to date)

SOURCE Number of people supported through the SP Programme each financial year.  

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 507 503 583 766 N/a

The above figures illustrate the number of people supported through the SP Programme each 
financial year.   There are no specific targets for the number of people being supported as the 
number schemes may change as a result of the cost calculator exercise and will depend on 
the newly or reconfigured projects.

(c) Project Evaluation

The project will be evaluated using the newly introduced pricing levels which will be consistent 
across all commissioned SP Services.

The financial savings will be recorded, and some utilised for initial transitional protection 
(details of which to be explored and decided upon in the upcoming planning group).

Outcomes after financial saving would be the flexibility to commission new services based on 
local need to maximise programme impact in Merthyr Tydfil.

Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Targets for the next period

 Implementation of the cost calculator pricing policy across floating support schemes on 
April 1st 2018

 Ongoing consultation with service providers in implementing the policy throughout the 
first quarter of 2018

Page 38



 (d) Project Risks

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1. Providers unable to sustain 
funding cuts 

3 3 9 Loss of service Mitigate 
risks by 
consulting 
with 
provider & 
explore 
transitional 
protection 

SP Lead/ 
SPPG

Ongoing 

(e) Project Issues

Identify the issues from the latest Issue Log. 

Assessment of 
Issue

Issue
No.

Issue
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1. Data to inform the cost 
calculator is reliant upon hours 
stated on service 
specifications and verifications 
that have not always been 
completed consistently 

4  There may be 
some slight 
inconsistencies in 
the hours 
reported on and 
actually delivered

Factor in 
finances 
for the  
potential of 
additional 
hours 
being 
delivered 
in 
transition 
period 

SPPG January 
2018

Page 39



APPENDIX 2:  PERFORMANCE DATA REPORT

There are no targets and ranks available for 2016 / 2017 due to issues encountered with 
implementation of the measures. Data is published at an all Wales level with no accompanying 
sub-national detail.  Welsh Government will revise the framework in due course. 

Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support

SOURCE
The percentage of adults who have received advice and assistance from the 
information, advice and assistance service and have not contacted the 
service for six months (Measure 23)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (%) - - - 83.07

Numerator 314

Denominator 378

Wales (%)

Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery

SURVEY DATA I have been actively involved in decisions about how my care and support was 
provided (adults)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (%) - - - 75.9

Numerator 104

Denominator 137

SURVEY DATA I have been actively involved in decisions about how my support was provided 
(carers)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (%) - - - 76.1

Numerator 35

Denominator 46

Page 40



SURVEY DATA I have been involved in all decisions about how the care and support was 
provided for the person I care for (carers)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (%) - - - 76.6

Numerator 36

Denominator 47

Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home

SOURCE The percentage of the adult population who can live independently

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT - - - 95.99

Wales 96.15

SOURCE The average length of time adults (aged 65 or over) are supported in residential 
care homes (Measures 21)

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target LA Rank

Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT (days) 812.00 848.31 827.89 884.97

Numerator 106,372 111,129 108,454 110,621

Denominator 131 131 131 125

SOURCE The average length of time adults (aged 65 or over) are supported in residential 
care homes (Measure 21)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (days) - - - 884.97

Numerator 110,621

Denominator 125

Wales (days)

Page 41



SOURCE The rate of delayed transfer of care for social care reasons per 1,000 
population aged 75 or over (Measure 19)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (days) - - - 0

Numerator 0

Denominator 4,720

Wales (age)

SOURCE The percentage of adults who completed a period of reablement and have a 
reduced package of care and support 6 months later (Measure 20a)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (%) - - - 19.77
Numerator 34

Denominator 172

Wales (%)

SOURCE The percentage of adults who completed a period of reablement and have no 
package of care and support 6 months later (Measure 20b)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (%) - - - 50.58
Numerator 87

Denominator 172

Wales (%)

Page 42



Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people with 
protected characteristics

SOURCE The average number of calendar days taken to deliver a Disabled Facilities 
Grant

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target LA Rank

Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT (days) 273.1 357.5 299.1 
(to date) 200 20th 

Numerator 4916 2860

Denominator 18 8

SOURCE The average number of calendar days taken to deliver a Disabled Facilities 
Grant

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT (days) 190 160 184 287 200 20th 

Numerator 99 96 95 58

Denominator 18,854 15,373 17,508 16,660

Wales (days) 238 231 241 224

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Caseloads – Children’s Services

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report has been prepared in response to Scrutiny Committee’s request for 
additional information.  Caseloads are particularly high in one area of the service, 
measures are in place to manage this but further work is required.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That Scrutiny Committee members, receive this report and raise questions and 
challenge that will enhance the delivery of the Children’s Services Action Plan that is 
identified in .6.1.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Lessons from research about outcomes for young people, learning from practice 
review, our professional standards, prudent financial management, and our duty of 
care to service users and staff underpin our commitment to ensuring that children’s 
services staff have manageable caseloads. 

 
3.2 In the course of Scrutiny Committee’s work in other areas, Committee Members 

have previously asked questions about caseload size. This resulted in a report being 
brought to Scrutiny Committee in December 2016. A summary of the central themes 
and decisions from that report is included below.

Date Written November 2017
Report Author Annabel Lloyd
Service Area Children’s Services
Committee Date 12th  December 2017

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The 2016 report highlighted the following points:

 There is no definitive standard for identifying appropriate caseload size, and 
views differ about what an appropriate caseload size should be.  In Merthyr 
Tydfil Children’s Services, caseload size is determined by the professional 
judgement of the manager having balanced the likely demands of the case 
with the capacity of the practitioner. This is because the demands of any case 
vary enormously, and there is at any one time a number of factors influencing  
appropriate  caseload size including:

(a)  The demands and complexity of the case
(b)  The skills and experience of the worker
(c)  Other factors including the employee’s circumstances and capacity of the     
       team to support the practitioner with the tasks involved in the case

 The previously commissioned workload management tool was not valued by 
managers and staff and not viewed as effective given that it created additional 
work resulting in no benefit.

 Caseload size was being monitored via a management information report at 
monthly Extended Children’s Services Meeting. That meeting focused upon 
exceptions with plans for reducing caseload sizes that were either in excess 
of 30 per full time Equivalent Social Worker or below 20.

4.2 The table below sets out progress against what we said we would do in 
November 2016:

Action  as in Scrutiny Committee Report 
in November 2016

Progress as at November 2017

Reduce demand on the service as a 
result increasing the impact of 
preventative services

Demand is high with a recorded 30% 
increase in 16-17 compared to the prior 
year. Some caution is advised in viewing 
this statistic in isolation. Whilst it is an 
increase, it is in part due to an 
improvement in reporting new concerns on 
open cases. The increase is reflected 
across Wales with a number of authorities 
reporting increased numbers of children 
who are looked after or subject to Care 
Proceedings.

Ensure that we have staffing resources 
allocated to the relevant part of the 
service

There have been no changes to staffing 
establishment. The single greatest 
challenges have been managing the 
impact of parent leave and vacancies. At 
times we have created capacity to manage 
workload by:

(a) Asking staff to  work outside of 
team remit to manage demand

(b) Use of agency social  worker to 
manage demand and risk

Page 46



Action  as in Scrutiny Committee Report 
in November 2016

Progress as at November 2017

Ensure that the work involved in case 
closure and step down is achieved in a 
more timely fashion allowing staff to 
move on to new challenges. 

Changes to the case closure and step 
down process to ensure that it is SMART 
and avoids the delay that we are 
currently reporting.

There has been some progress. There has 
been very close tracking of this in one part 
of the service in order to ensure that 
progress has been achieved.

Changing our data management system to 
the Welsh Community Care Information 
System (WCCIS) led to an interruption in 
our regular performance reporting on this.  
This is now back on track in relation to 
caseload management with enhanced view 
and reporting.

Enhance our response to support 
practitioners with high caseloads, 
making sure that practice is safe and risk 
is shared

This has been effective in the area of the 
service where caseloads are highest,  but 
staff are concerned about the impact for 
practice of high caseloads.  Some staff in 
one part of the service raised their 
concerns about work life balance, workload 
demands and the way in which they are 
supported.  Colleagues from HR and 
business change are supporting a task and 
finish group aimed at improving support.

The future role of the caseload weighting 
system

This is not a system that is currently used 
given that it was deemed to be neither 
helpful nor effective. Enquiries made with 
other sources have not been fruitful. 
Caseload size is therefore determined by 
the manager in discussion with the 
practitioner bearing in mind practitioner 
skills, support that is available and demand 
on the service. 

Measures that can support staff in safe 
management of high caseloads making 
sure that practice is safe and risk is 
shared.

 These measures include :
 regular supervision

 regular involvement and review 
by senior management team at 
times of peak demand and 
reduced capacity

 drawing on support that is 
available  from other parts of the 
service and the Council 

 judicious use of agency staff 
listening to staff and responding 
to concerns about caseload size 
and support

Page 47



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 Managing demand continues to be a key challenge. The Service presently faces 
continuing pressure with two areas of the service facing particular difficulties. The 
nature of the challenges vary slightly but the root cause is managing demand at 
times of reduced capacity due to vacancy and parent leave. The period of time 
between notice given and completion of induction can be up to 6 months.  As 
highlighted above, during this time the service manages  by looking for opportunities 
to do things differently, for example by mobilising  available staff from  other parts of 
the service, increasing the quality and focus upon duty systems, and where risk 
cannot be managed in any other way by the use of agency staff. 

5.2 The change in approach to working with families that is required of the Social 
Services and Well-being Act means that practitioners need to spend more time 
working with families to achieve lasting change in an operating environment where 
office based activities and reporting requirements are unchanged. Furthermore, 
acceptable caseload size is universally cited as fundamental to achieving positive 
outcomes for children, young people and their families.  Strategically, we are yet to 
see the reduced demand at the front door that is anticipated will be delivered as a 
result of improved preventative services. 

5.3 From a staff point of view, there are concerns about capacity to provide the service 
that families deserve and the risks involved in this for young people and the 
authority.

5.4 Recruitment of suitably qualified and experienced social work staff is a national 
challenge with Universities reporting that for the first time that they are unable to 
entirely fill student social worker places. Further work on a Cwm Taf footing is 
underway to assist in understanding and resolving this regionally and Merthyr Tydfil 
Children’s Services and Human Resources colleagues will contribute to and track 
that work given its self -evident advantages to the current situation.

5.5 We will be supported by colleagues in HR in developing a recruitment strategy for 
the service that puts the Service in the strongest provision possible to recruit the best 
candidates in the shortest timescale possible. The full range of activity aimed at 
addressing present issues is included below at 6.1. However, until the Service is 
operational at full staffing establishment we are unable to offer an informed view 
about the sufficiency of staffing establishment. 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 This action plan has been developed with practitioners and managers and will be 
monitored at the monthly extended manager’s meeting and Head of Service 1:1 with 
the Chief Officer for Social Services.

Page 48



What Would good 
look like? 

What needs to be done next? By Whom 
and By 
When ?

Update / 
Review 

Strategic  vision to 
invest in prevention 
leads to reduced 
demand for 
statutory children’s 
services leading to 
more manageable 
caseload size

 Strategy for Tackling Poverty 
is being developed.  
Children’s Services will 
contribute to this 
recommending that 
performance measures and 
targets include an eye to 
reducing demand for 
statutory children’s services.

 Improvements to the 
provision of Information 
Advice and Assistance will 
further develop opportunities 
for step down to preventative 
services where that is safe 
and appropriate 

Led by Head 
of Well-being 

Principal 
Officer for 
Early Help 
and Well-
being 

The service can 
recruit the best 
candidates without 
delay 

 With support of HR a 
recruitment strategy will be 
developed. This will look 
broadly at  pull factors   to 
attract strong candidates

 We will continue to consider 
 learning and impact from 
any exit interviews

Head of HR 
and 
Children’s 
Services 
Management 
Team

Caseload sizes are 
manageable 

 Continue to use management 
information to monitor this as 
a whole service monthly, 
incrementally reducing our 
tolerance to high caseload 
size as demand reduces and 
full staffing establishment is 
achieved

 Improvement to the flow of 
business ‘case transfer’ 
prevents build up in  / 
bottleneck in Intake Team

Children’s 
Services 
Management 
Team led by 
Head of 
Service 

Staff who are 
 concerned about 
 their support or 
caseload size know  
how to get support 

 Letter to all staff about 
supervision arrangements, 
work life balance and support 
that is available to staff.

Head of 
Service – by 
20.12.17

Teams facing 
challenge will be 
supported 
effectively 

 Principal Officers,  and Head 
of Service will develop a plan 
to support staff and manage 
risk  in circumstances  where 
teams face  particular 
challenges linked to 
workforce capacity

Principal 
Officers and 
Head of 
Service as 
per 
requirements

Page 49



7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 The action plan above will be discussed at Extended Managers Team Meeting in 
December and implemented and reviewed.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 Achieving and sustaining manageable caseload size cuts across all areas of 
Children’s Services Strategy including the areas where we are contributing to 
Corporate priorities.

LISA CURTIS JONES- CHIEF OFFICER 
FOR SOCIAL SERVICE 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
PORTFOLIO COUNCILLOR FOR SOCIAL 
SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee – Children’s 
Services Caseload Size 

December 2016 Unit 5 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Page 50



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

NEETS Strategy 2018 -2021 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To Inform the Scrutiny Committee of the Not in Education, Employment or Training 
Strategy (2018-21) and the progress that has been made against this agenda in line 
with the previous strategy.  The NEETS Strategy identifies some critical areas to be 
progressed if the authority is to continue its progress. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1     That the Scrutiny Committee debates the contents of this report and identifies any 
further information they would like to receive.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Following on from the success of the Merthyr Tydfil NEET Strategy (2013-16) the Not 
in Education, Employment or Training Strategy (2018-21) has been developed to 
ensure that mechanisms and systems continue to be improved or developed. This 
strategy is focused on ensuring that young people who are at risk of not engaging in 
education, employment or training (NEET) or who have become NEET, are 
supported appropriately to reintegrate into education and/or the labour market. 

3.2 The Scrutiny Committee are being asked to consider and debate the key priorities of 
the Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy (2018-21)

Date Written 26th October 2017
Report Author Chris Hole / Diane Jones
Service Area Community Wellbeing
Committee Date 12th December 2017

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The approach to the implementation of the NEETs Strategy 2013 -16 has seen 
significant success achieved across the County Borough Figure 4.2.  This success 
has been built upon a preventative approach to NEETs. Identifying young people 
who need support early in their school years through a vulnerability profiling tool. In 
conjunction with this support for post 16 has been provided which enables individuals 
to re-train and reintegrate into the labour market and/or education. Each of these 
unique areas requires effective multi-agency working at both a strategic and an 
operational level and is led by the local authorities NEETS Coordinator.

4.2

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 NEETS Data Year 11

5.1.1 For 2016, the published Welsh Government NEET figure for Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council was 1.3%, equating to 6 young people, which placed the local 
authority joint first with two other Local Authorities, Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council and Ceredigion County Borough Council.

5.1.2 However, during early 2017 data discrepancies were identified and through the 
NEETs Steering Group strategic partnership it was confirmed that at a national level 
young people educated other than at school are not included in the national 
destination survey results. Prior to the 2016 destination survey, within Merthyr Tydfil, 
the NEETs figure had accounted for all year 11 leavers including those educated 
other than at school. Therefore for 2016 there are two sets of data, unverified local 
NEETS figure of 1.9% and a nationally published figure of 1.03%.

5.2 NEETs Data  16-24 Years

5.2.1 There are numerous data sets collected and analysed through Stats Wales 
pertaining to unemployed young people aged 16-24 and. The two which are 

NEET %: Year 11 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council - Trends
2012 2013 2014 2015
6.2%

(44 young people)
1.87%

(13 young people )
2.6%

(16 young people )
1.6%

(10 young people )
All Wales: 

4.2%
All Wales: 

3.7%
All Wales: 

3.1%
All Wales:

3.1%

NEET 16-24yrs  MTCBC Unemployment Rate Trends 
33.4% 26.3% 20% 18.5%

All Wales:
23.7%

All Wales:
22%

All Wales:
19.2%

All Wales:
15.9%

Page 52



identified as headline measures are the unemployment rate and the economic 
inactivity rate.  It is however also useful to monitor the   claimant count (JSA) within 
the local authority area.  The progress against each of these areas is identified in the 
table below 

5.2.2 The rate of improvement across Merthyr Tydfil has been at an accelerated pace in 
comparison to the rest of Wales. The unemployment rate improving by 13.8% 
compared to the Wales improvement of 10.6%, the economically inactive improving 
by 4.1% compared to the Wales improvement of 2.2%. In relation to the Claimant 
count the improvement has been by 17.9% and brings Merthyr Tydfil as of December 
2016 in line with the Wales Average. 

5.2.3 When analysing the claimant count data it is able to be evidenced that individuals 
between 16-24yrs are for the majority spending shorter periods of time unemployed. 
However those with significant barriers preventing reintegration into employment or 
training are whilst small in number are becoming more visible.  

 5.2.4 The small numbers within the population of the 16-24 cohort can have a significant 
bearing on the headline figures especially when % are utilised.  In 2012 the 16-24 
population excluding students was 4,800 according to Stats Wales and in  2017  this 
has decreased to  4,200 in 2017. There was a notable rise in the population (4700) in 
2016 before returning to 4,200 in 2017.  

5.3 There has been significant work and investment across the County Borough to 
reduce young people becoming NEET and reduce the unemployment rates and 
increase employability skills. This has resulted in the securing of European 
programmes to address both pre 16 and post 16 support for NEETs.  This has 
resulted in a range of programmes being available  at post 16 including Inspire to 
Work (I2W) and Communities for Work (C4W)  plus at pre 16 the Inspire to Achieve 

MTCBC
2012

MTCBC
2017 

Wales Av
 2017 

Unemployment 
Rate  %

33.4% 19.6% 13.1%

Economically 
Inactive 

26.4% 14.6% 19%

JSA Claimants 34.3% 16.4% (2016) 16.4% (2016)

Claimant Count MTCBC
2012

MTCBC
2016

MTCBC 
2016 (individuals)  

Over 6 months   
%

14.8% 7.5% 60

Over 12 months  7.4% 5.0% 40
Over 18 Months 2.3% 3.1% 25
Over 24months  0.4% 1.9% 15

Page 53



(I2A) programme. The Inspire to Achieve and Work projects are currently funded 
until June 2019 and Communities for Work until 2020.

6.0 The NEETS Strategy  - Development and Consultation

6.1 The Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy (Appendix A) identifies the 
critical priorities within this agenda for the period 2018 to 2021 that will be taken 
forward through the well-established NEETS Steering Group. This group has, and 
continues to provide, an appropriate strategic partnership approach that is now 
linked into the Tackling Poverty Structure.  The development of this strategy has 
been influenced by the partners, national policy drivers and through the learning 
gained from critical pieces of research outlined below. Critical within the Wavehill 
research especially that of the NEETs Life Journey research has been the voice and 
experiences gained from the young people that were the first to experience the 
introduction of the lead worker approach. 

6.2 NEETS Research & Evaluation

6.2.1 In March 2015 Merthyr Tydfil through grant funding commissioned a research study 
to establish the current and future needs of training and learning provision, and to 
identify patterns of local employment and skills gaps in relation to the key sector 
industries in Merthyr Tydfil.

6.2.2 The findings identified that a number of local employers have difficulties in filling 
vacancies, with specific challenges around job skills such as welding, painting and 
decorating, and customer services. The research also indicated the need for more 
generic employability skills training in communication, problem solving, and planning 
and organizing.  The research also identified the need to develop a more 
collaborative approach to curriculum planning across the post 16 sector to ensure 
learning provision meets  the needs of  young people as gaps and duplication were 
identified across partners

6.2.3 Working collaboratively with the Economic Growth Partnership key recommendations 
of the Business Skills research will be embedded into a future economic growth 
strategy, with this being reflected in the Not in Education, Employment or Training 
Strategy (2018-21). 

6.2.4 In 2016/17 Merthyr Tydfil and its strategic partners commissioned an independent 
review of the lead worker approach to NEETs. The purpose of which was to identify 
the impact of the introduction of this model, if any, and to evaluate the priority areas 
for improvement or refocusing of support. The review was ground breaking in that 
our main strategic partner, Careers Wales, provided unlimited access to its database 
which enabled the research to look at the life journey of young people who were 
classified as high risk on leaving school in 2014 until they were 18 and compared 
their experiences against a randomly sampled cohort of the same size from the 
same year group.  

6.2.5 The key outcomes of the research were that the Lead worker approach whilst 
requiring further development had made a significant impact on those identified as 

Page 54



high risk on leaving school and influenced their future involvement in provision post 
16.   Whilst they had more periods of unemployment than the control group only a 
small number became entrenched in continuous unemployment or disengagement 
from education. Therefore this research has evidenced that the approach will help to 
prevent the costs associated to the longer term impacts of being NEET and the 
likelihood of sustained unemployment as an adult, eventually reducing the need for 
more costly interventions.   

6.2.6 There are several key issues impacting on our young people between 16-18 yrs 
which are contributing to multiple periods of being NEET, and which potentially 
establish the trend of their future access in or out of employment and learning. These 
areas are identified as mental health and well-being and substance misuse which is 
compounded by a lack of information sharing between services to support the 
individual and the services themselves  

6.2.7 Through the research identified above, the engagement of partners and from the 
learning gained through the implementation of this agenda the following key strategic 
aims have been identified as critical to taking forward the 2018-21 strategy. 

 Aim 1 effective early Identification at pre and post 16 
 Aim 2 Maintain and Improve the Brokerage and Co-ordination of Support: 
 Aim 3 Ensure Provision Meets the Needs of Young People 
 Aim 4 Strengthen Employability Skills and Opportunities for Employment and 

Training

7.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE & CRITICAL PRIORITIES

7.1 Critical to the success of the above will be the further development of the Capita one 
education database to include: 

 Developing a vulnerability profile for young people down to key stage
 Utilising the capita one data to measure the impact of lead working and 

interventions across families first to compliment distance travelled tools 
 Developing electronic case management systems where possible to 

centralise data 

7.2 Work with Strategic partners to address the concerns highlighted by the recent 
research which identified young people with mental health and wellbeing as a priority 
group as well as young people who are within or have formerly been looked after 
especially where these are out of county placements.  

7.3 An increasing number of partners involved in the delivery of the NEETS agenda 
which now means there is a need to enhance the existing quality frameworks into a 
more formalised approach for the delivery of lead working both at pre 16 and post 
18. This will enable the services involved to combine the best practice previously 
witnessed. Included in this priority is also the need to work across partners in 
developing a more collaborative approach to the learning offer in partnership with 
economic development. 

Page 55



7.4 A focus on these areas will enable Merthyr Tydfil to continue to be at the forefront of 
mitigating the impacts of unemployment on our young people (16-24) and their 
families. It is believed that this approach will enable the partnership and services 
responsible for keeping Merthyr Tydfil in the top quartile since 2012 to maintain its 
current performance levels within the top quartile over the coming 3 years whilst 
addressing some critical issues identified.  

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

8.1 Review the feedback from the Scrutiny Committee
8.2 Gain Cabinet approval on the NEETS Strategy 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

9.1 The councils Neets strategy has historically contributed to  the Employability agenda 
across the council but is now reflected in the Wellbeing Statement 

 Best Start to life  - Children and young people develop the knowledge and 
skills  and attributes they need  to flourish in life  learning and work

Lisa Curtis Jones 
Chief Officer Social Services 

Cllr David Hughes 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees

Wavehill Research- 
2015 and 2016

ICS Fileserver

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

NO

Page 56



Appendix A 

Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy  

 (2018-21)

                        

                           

Page 57



Lead Officer: 
 Chris Hole (Head of Community Wellbeing– MTCBC)

Key Strategic Partners & Authors:
 C. Hole, D. Jones, S. Morgan (Social Services– MTCBC)
 P. Lipian (Children Social Services – MTCBC)
 S. Bowen, D. Swallow (Education & Inclusion Services-MTCBC)
 A. Jones (Careers Wales),
 J. Martin (Coleg Merthyr Tydfil)
 S. Davies (Partnership Planning-MTCBC)
 C. Griffiths (Youth Offending)
 C. Pritchard (JCP)

This document can be provided on CD, electronically or in large print and can be translated 
into other languages.

For more information contact: 
NEET Steering Group
C /O Diane Jones 
MTCBC Unit 5 
Triangle Business Park
Pentrebach
Merthyr Tydfil
CF48 4TQ

Email: diane.jones@merthyr.gov.uk
Phone: 01685 727305

Date NEETS Plan Approved: 
Date NEETS Plan to be formally reviewed:  April 2018

Images: www.mwlp.com.au, sufforkworkexperience.com, www.dreamstime.com

Page 58

mailto:diane.jones@merthyr.gov.uk
http://www.mwlp.com.au/
http://www.dreamstime.com/


Foreword by Chief Officers & Portfolio Lead
The Vision for children and young people who are at risk of not engaging in education, 
employment or training (NEET) within Merthyr Tydfil is that they will be given the 
opportunity to reach their full potential through coordinated support enabling them to take 
advantage of high quality learning environments and effective interventions that assists 
their transition between education and work.

Following on from the success of the Merthyr Tydfil NEET Strategy (2013-16), the Not in 
Education, Employment or Training Strategy (2018-21) has been developed to ensure that 
mechanisms and systems continue to be in place to support young people who are at risk 
of not engaging in education, employment or training (NEET) or who have become NEET,
and need help to reintegrate into education and/or the labour market. 

With the success that have been already achieved, it is clear that successfully identifying 
young people who need support early in their school years, or helping them post 
compulsory education to re-train and reintegrate into the labour market and/or education, 
requires effective multi-agency working at both a strategic and an operational level. 

It is acknowledged that no single agency can address this issue on its own because of the 
range of factors that impact on a young person’s ability to engage with education, 
employment and training. It is clear that this strategy will only succeed if we have the 
continued strong multi agency input and cooperation that has been already developed, and 
that I know exists within Merthyr Tydfil.

Within Merthyr Tydfil there is a clear commitment to ensuring every young person can live a 
rewarding, productive and independent life. It is for this reason that all organisations who 
have a key role in supporting young people come together to support the implementation of 
the Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy (2018-21) and create innovative 
ways to ensure we achieve this goal

Thank you for your cooperation and ongoing support

 
Chief Officer Social Services              Cllr David Hughes Portfolio Lead

Chief Officer Education Services        Cllr Lisa Mytton Portfolio Lead
     

Page 59



Section Contents Page 
1 INTRODUCTION 5

2 BACKGROUND 6

3 MERTHYR TYDFIL 2050 7

4 DEFINING SUCCESS 2018-21 8

5 THE BASELINE IN 2016 9-10

6 STORY BEHIND THE BASELINE 10-12

7 ACHIEVING THE PRIORITIES 12-14

8 YOUTH SUPPORT SERVICES  MEASURES & 
TARGETS 2016-19

15-17

9 MAPPING  THE MEASURES 18-20

Page 60



1 INTRODUCTION

This plan sets out Merthyr Tydfil’s long term vision for the ongoing coordination of 
preventative services to reduce young people’s likelihood of becoming NEET (Not in 
Education, Employment or Training),  and to reduce the occasions and duration they 
experience being NEET between the ages of 16 -24.  This plan identifies the critical 
priorities within this agenda for the 2018-21 periods that will be taken forward through a 
partnership approach with organisations across the County Borough. These priorities are 
influenced through a range of national policy drivers including:

1. Well Being of Future Generations Act 2015
2. Social Services And Well-being (Wales) Act 2014
3. Child Poverty Strategy for Wales 
4. Rights to Action 2004
5. Extending Entitlement 
6. United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
7. Youth Engagement and Progression Framework 

The priorities identified within this plan provide a foundation for the further development and 
coordination of the NEETS agenda and contribute to the longer term vision and 
achievement of the national wellbeing indicators within the Wales we Want framework.

In addition to the above policy context local strategic influences have been identified that 
have helped to shape this plan and are detailed within:

 Well Being Plan  and needs assessment 
 Estyn Inspection of the Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young 

People
 Tackling Poverty Strategy, which is currently in development

This Strategy has been developed through bringing together key partners within both the 
Local Authority and the third as well as private sector to ensure a joined up approach to the 
future strategic development of the agenda.  This plan reinforces the commitment between 
all partners to ensure that the young people of Merthyr Tydfil are able to access a range of 
NEETS prevention support appropriate to their needs. In so doing this approach will help to 
prevent the costs associated to the longer term impacts of being NEET and the likelihood of 
sustained unemployment as an adult.   

Underpinning this approach is the need for all services to achieve improved outcomes for 
service users and the wider community, whilst developing active citizens that not only have 
the skills to fulfil their potential but which develop greater independence and resilience 
within the communities of Merthyr Tydfil. 

Page 61



2. BACKGROUND

In the past, planning for public services has often been too responsive to demand rather than need.  
This has meant public services have provided services which treat problems after they have arisen, 
rather than preventing their occurrence in the first place.  As a local authority, we support the 
principle of early intervention and prevention and acknowledge the need to work differently in order 
to better serve the needs of our communities across the County Borough with a specific focus on 
those who are disadvantaged; vulnerable or at risk of becoming vulnerable. 

A huge amount of preventative work has been done over many years with notable successes, 
however too many services continue to treat problems after they have arisen.  In order to break the 
cycles of dependency and the intergenerational transfer of poor outcomes, we must focus greater 
efforts and resources on services that deliver early intervention and prevention. 

The majority of people in Merthyr Tydfil are surrounded by a network of family, friends and 
neighbours that influences their quality of life.  They in turn contribute to the community in which 
they live. There is a need to complement these networks by supporting people to live fulfilled lives, 
and when they need it to tackle life problems. This is important not only for the individuals 
concerned but for the resilience, well-being and development of our community as a whole. To do 
this we need to make the right services available at the right time, and ensure they are efficient and 
well-coordinated. This is about managing the needs of our community. 

The Programme for Government emphasises the importance of all parts of Wales providing multi-
agency support for families who need it, tailored to the particular issues they face, bringing together 
help from social services, health services, education, justice and voluntary services. 

By improving our ability to respond quickly through prevention and early intervention, public services 
and partners aim to help more people to live fulfilled lives in the community, reducing the need for 
specialist services in the future.

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and its statutory partners including the third sector are   
committed to working together to improve the health and wellbeing of those who live, work and visit 
Merthyr Tydfil.This vision is:

“To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads 
of the Valleys and be a place to be proud of where:

 People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions;
 People live, work have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life; and
 People visit, enjoy and return”.

Community, 
villages, 

neighbourhoods

Family and 
carers

Individual

Page 62



3. MERTHYR TYDFIL 2050 
All children and young people have access to a range of services, appropriate to 

individuals’ level of needs which improve skills and attainment, develop resilience 
and promote independence, creating active citizens that take responsibility for their 
own health and well being and builds more cohesive and caring communities for all.  

Developing a cohesive and safe community, with Merthyr Tydfil as the regional 
centre for the heads of the Valleys and where diversity is welcomed.

This vision is underpinned by implementing an approach in partnership with the people of 
Merthyr Tydfil to ensure services meet their needs and which contribute towards the future 
sustainability of these services. The following principles are considered by the Council as 
the foundation blocks for all service developments:  

   

Well Being of Future Generations Act 2015

Long-term
The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability to also meet need in the long term

Prevention
How to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may help public 
bodies meet their objectives

Integration
Considering how the PSB’s objectives impact on each other, on the 
objectives of partner organisations etc. 

Collaboration
Acting in collaboration with any other person that could help the body 
to meet its well-being objectives

Involvement
The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving 
common goals and ensuring those people reflect the diversity of the 
area which the body serves

Page 63



4 Defining Success for 2018 -21 for young people in Merthyr Tydfil.

 Priority 1 - Raising Attainment   - Improving Skills and Qualification levels 

Early identification of young people at risk is a critical factor in ensuring that young people 
who require additional support (pre 16) in line with their needs. In partnership with 
education and schools across the County Borough, interventions coordinated through a 
team around the child approach will assist in reducing unauthorised absences and 
improving performance of those young people most at risk of becoming NEET. 

Priority 2 - NEETS     - Reducing risk of becoming or remaining NEET 

Merthyr Tydfil aims to have all young people leave school and progress into a post 16 
destination of employment or further learning, providing a solid foundation for the 
individual’s future career choices. These foundations and aspirations contribute towards 
developing a skilled and motivated workforce which assists in attracting future inward 
investment and the future sustainability of the economy of the County Borough.  

Priority 3 - Employability – Reducing the number of 16-24yrs unemployed  

Improving the information sharing for young people at post 18 is critical to ensuring that the 
right young people are being targeted for support. Alongside this there is a need to review 
and strengthen the partnership arrangements in order to work towards partners having 
shared ownership over a local ‘joint’ curriculum which meets the needs of young people 
promotes progression and meets employer’s needs. 

Priority 4 – Vulnerable Groups – Improving access to support services

Identifying the needs of our most vulnerable groups and of how the services on offer 
support these groups to succeed is critical to ensuring our most vulnerable succeed. 
Recent research identifies young people with mental health and wellbeing concerns as a 
priority group as well as young people who are within or have formerly been looked after 
especially where these are out of county placements.  

Priority 5 – Quality and Safeguarding – Strengthening and maintaining a quality 
framework across partners

An increasing number of partners involved in the delivery of the NEETS agenda now mean 
there is a need to enhance the existing quality frameworks into a more formalised approach 
for the delivery of lead working both at pre 16 and post 18. This will enable the services 
involved to combine the best practice previously witnessed and the  

Page 64



5 BASELINE Indicators 2016/17 

In order to measure future progress there is a need to have an agreed baseline on key data 
sets, this baseline will be utilised annually to review future target setting. Where available 
specific data sets have been used for the 11-25 age group however where these are not 
available wider population data has been utilised. 

Attainment:

 52% achieving level 2 inclusive 
 85.4% achieving level 2 
 93.1% Attendance in Secondary 
 Permanent Exclusions  (secondary) 3
 Fixed Term exclusions (5 days or less) for secondary 32.4 – per 1000 pupils
 1.6 % identified by Year group as at highest risk of NEETs 

NEETS 16-18  

 1.03% of young people identified as NEET – Year 11 (2016)
 0% no response to survey (unknown)
 88.7% of young people progress into further education (full time)
 5.9% progress into Work based learning 
 0.63% of young people take up apprenticeships 
 Establish Baseline - % of care leavers were in education, training or employment  

at 12 and 24 months  - no baseline available new measure

NEETS 16-24

 19.6% of young people unemployed aged 16-24  (June 17)
 14.6% of 16-24 yrs (excluding Students) are economically inactive (June 17)
 80% of ESA claims  for young people 16-24 are for Mental health
 Establish Baseline - % of young people successfully completing FE programmes
 Establish Baseline - % of young people from Merthyr College  securing a place on 

higher education
 Establish Baseline - % of young people from Merthyr college and work based 

learning moving into an apprenticeship
 Establish Baseline - % of young people from Merthyr Tydfil  achieving a degree 

Employability 

 40.8% of Merthyr Residents work outside the County Borough
 29% of employers in Merthyr Tydfil say they are unable to recruit staff with the 

required skills
 20% of employers in Merthyr Tydfil say they have 1 or more staff that are not 

proficient in their role 
 15% report problems in retaining staff  
 62% of employers want to see better access to apprenticeships for under 25’s

Page 65



6 STORY BEHIND THE BASELINE DATA

Attainment  
An enhanced focus and drive to improving outcomes for children of all ages within formal 
education has resulted in outcomes for children in Merthyr Tydfil improving at a faster rate 
than the rest of Wales. However it is recognised that this focus and commitment needs to 
continue to ensure Merthyr Tydfil achieves improvements which will place them in the top 
quartile in Wales.  In tandem with this there have been improvements in both school 
attendance and the rate of exclusions across the secondary education sector.   

These improved outcomes and improved targeting of support for those young people most 
at risk of becoming NEET has had a substantial and sustained impact on the NEETs figures 
within recent years. 

Alongside this the local authority has seen a trend of high performance from the Youth 
Service in relation to both the voluntary engagement of young people and the achievement 
of informal and recognised qualifications however more needs to be achieved to 
understand how the voluntary sector delivery also contributes to this agenda.   

NEETs 16-18 yrs
The responsibilities placed on Local Authorities through the introduction of the Youth 
Engagement and Progression Framework resulted in Merthyr Tydfil establishing a strategic 
partnership to address the NEETS issue across the county borough. This partnership has 
since 2012 been extremely successful in reducing the NEETS figure and ensuring that no 
young people became ‘unknown, to the support agencies and providers. 

During this period significant change to the education system has also been implemented 
with the introduction of a tertiary college system, which has contributed to an increased 
number of young people remaining in full time education post 16. It is unclear how this 
translates into the securing of higher education or employment outcomes for these 
individuals at present and is an area for development. 

A significantly higher percentage of young people in Merthyr Tydfil take up work based 
learning compared to the Welsh average and too few young people secure 
apprenticeships.  It is also recognised from previous data available that young people 
which are resident outside Merthyr Tydfil but have previously been supported by statutory 
services are disproportionately represented in the NEETs figures for their respective areas 
and through previous data available from social services, including looked after care 
leavers.  

Recent research has identified that there are several key issues impacting on our young 
people between 16-18 which are contributing to multiple periods of being NEET, and which 
potentially establish the trend of their future access in or out of employment and learning. 
These areas are identified as mental health and well- being and substance abuse which is 
compounded by a lack of information sharing between services to support the individual 
and the services themselves  

Page 66



NEETs 18-24 yrs 
Youth unemployment has been decreasing since 2012; however, during 2015 this rose 
sharply and will continue to be a focus for improvement through the range of employability 
programmes recently secured within the County Borough. Key to future success will be 
ensuring young people who progress into further learning also successfully transition into 
apprenticeships and Higher Education. Providing these young people with these 
opportunities will enable better access to well paid employment that not only provides an 
identified career path but also raises the prosperity of the community as a whole.  

Throughout the post 16 learning environment greater partnership working needs to be 
developed to ensure that the ‘curriculum offer’ meets the needs of employers both locally 
and more widely as a large % of Merthyr residents travel outside of the county borough for 
work, in fact more so than in neighbouring authorities. Ensuring greater collaboration and 
progression routes are available will enable employers to recruit more easily from the local 
population and develop a more productive, cohesive workforce.   

Employability
There has been significant work and investment across the County Borough to reduce 
unemployment rates and increase employability skills.

In March 2015 Wavehill Ltd were commissioned by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
(MTCBC) and its partners to undertake a research study to establish the current and future 
needs of training and learning provision, and to identify patterns of local employment and 
skills gaps in relation to the key sector industries in Merthyr Tydfil.

The research findings indicate that unemployment and worklessness remains a significant 
issue in the borough. Employers indicate that there are difficulties in filling vacancies, with 
specific challenges around job skills such as welding, painting and decorating, and customer 
services. The research also indicates the need for more generic employability skills training in 
communication, problem solving, and planning and organizing. 

Working collaboratively with the Economic Growth Partnership key recommendations of the 
Business Skills research will be embedded to improve and better coordinate services to 
young people. 

7.  Achieving the Priorities  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council cannot meet the needs of the young people of the 
borough in isolation and is therefore committed to developing support for NEETS in 
partnership with the wider community. This includes ensuring that the wider community, 
including organisations delivering these services increase their knowledge about the needs 
of both the County Borough and individual communities as well as improve their ability to 
target resources appropriately. Through this collaborative and informed approach the 
community can become more involved in the development and delivery of services in 
response to the current and future priorities. This will also serve to increase the 
sustainability and effectiveness of organisations whilst maximising the impact of valuable 
resources on the life chances of individuals within the community.  This approach will also 
contribute to a range of national priorities including improving individuals well being and the 
tackling of poverty across the community, developing more cohesive communities. 

Page 67



Aims and Objectives; How we are going to get there......

Aim 1 Continue to ensure effective early Identification at pre and post 16 

Objectives

1.1) Implement and review the Early Identification Capita One assessment toolkit for 
young people aged 11-16 yrs after pilot year has been completed 

1.2) Review outcomes of the Careers Wales review of the Career Checker & Piloting a 
diagnostic tool.  

1.3) Ensure that families supported through MIA and other vulnerable groups are 
identified and recorded termly as part of the Capita One system 

1.4) Agree indicators and Pilot Early Identification toolkit  for years 5 and 6 to inform 
transition planning into high schools

1.5) Review Merthyr College vulnerability tool for 16-18yrs and identify recommendations 
for implementation across wider networks.  

1.6) Develop further the partnership with Further Education Colleges to identify and track 
the destinations of young people after completing their education at 18 and beyond

1.7) Develop further data management systems to establish baseline information on the 
churn figure for Merthyr Tydfil and how this reflects in lower super output areas.

1.8) Development robust systems of analysis of the Career Wales 5 tier Data Key Task 
for -Careers Wales Data Hub

1.9) Review with partners the information sharing approach to young people aged 19-
24yrs as they transition into Job Centre Plus (JCP) to improve tracking and 
progression, developing improved targeting of resources

1.10) Identify with Further Education (FE) establishments those young people with 
Additional Learning Needs (ALN)  that require additional support upon exit from FE  
16 to under 19yrs, and the progression into Higher Education (HE) for 18yrs plus 
(WAO R3)

Aim 2 Maintain and Improve the Brokerage and Co-ordination of Support: 

Objectives

2.1)  Review the current paper based systems to track the post 16 plans of young people 
in Year 11 ragged red and amber in securing a place in education, employment or 
training (EET)

Page 68



2.2) Review/ update provision mapping, and explore alternative and collaborative links 
with the Dewis information  service to support public and professionals 

2.3) Education and training providers to ensure course availability is on Careers Wales 
online to maximise take up 

2.4) Review expenditure on NEETs services to better understand the resources required 
to deliver the Framework (WAO R1). 

2.5) Explore how to increase the long term sustainability of the reduction in NEETs by 
enabling the third sector to deliver lead working  approach with young people  

2.6) To gain a further understanding of the impact of the ‘A curriculum for Wales, a 
curriculum for life’ review as piloted by identified schools 

2.7) Careers Wales to support schools to deliver the Careers World of Work of the 
Donaldson Curriculum for Life

2.8) Review the information sharing agreements and update annually

2.9) Ensure a standardisation  of practise through the implementation of an agreed Lead 
Worker Framework/Manual

2.10) Review the training for lead workers to identify good practice and minimum 
standards

2.11) Review current meeting arrangements in partnership with schools at Pre 16 and 
identify leads for Key Stage 3 & 4

2.12) Review current tracking arrangements at pre 16 to streamline the process and 
improve the use of capita one to capture and measure interventions                      

Aim 3 Ensure Provision Meets the Needs of Young People 

Objectives

3.1) Develop systems with partners to provide termly data analysis to measure the impact 
of interventions ‘risk reduction’ to young people identified as ‘high risk’ (Red ragged)  
particularly in relation to key measures 

3.2) Establish the range of interventions being utilised by lead workers to address specific 
risk factors, including mental health, and analyse effectiveness and value for money 
to inform best/future practice 

3.3) Review with partners the impact of targeted programmes impacting on NEET’s 
annually, to inform future delivery particularly with the rise in youth unemployment 
16-24 yrs in 2015 ensuring value for money is identified. 

Page 69

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/curriculum-for-wales-curriculum-for-life/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/curriculum-for-wales-curriculum-for-life/?lang=en


3.4) Explore and develop transition arrangements for young people exiting statutory 
orders in partnership with Youth Offending Service (YOS) 

3.5) Review current systems of tracking the post 16 plans of children who are looked after 
(CLA), pilot a Year 11 CLA focus review meeting format to confirm post 16 plans and 
identify potential barriers 

3.6) Review the NEETs’ transition & tracking of CLA young people placed out of county, 
develop and pilot a handover system with other LA NEET Coordinators to routinely 
exchange information (reciprocally) on progress and destinations within the Careers 
Wales 5 Tier Model. 

3.7) Identify how local services that aim to reduce unemployment can support the Re-
Connect to Care requirements and promote independence as community members.

3.8) Identify and develop systems (Capita 1) to collate and track young people who are 
looked after, including at post 16

3.9) Review current systems to collate and measure the wellbeing of young people

Aim 4 Strengthen Employability Skills and Opportunities for Employment and 
Training 

Objectives

4.1) Evaluate the impact of the policy for supporting vulnerable young people to access 
employment within the local authority. 

4.2) Review and identify why the take up of apprenticeships in Merthyr Tydfil is low and 
make recommendations to take forward 

4.3) Through the Economic Growth Partnership implement the recommendations of the 
Business Skills research to improve and better coordinate the local training offer to 
young people 

4.4) In partnership secure additional support for NEETs aged 18-25 yrs – to reduce youth 
unemployment 

4.5) Improve access to training for young people in employment

4.6) Increase awareness and promote access to targeted provision for the most 
vulnerable young people with a learning disability and / or learning difficulty

Page 70



P
age 71



8 NEETS  Measures & Targets  - 3 Year Forecast (reviewed annually)

Critical Key Performance Measures Targets

 2018 - 19 2019-20 2020-21

Priority 1  Attainment 

% Young people achieving level 2 inclusive  - Education Strategic Plan  - DH 62 To be 
established

To be 
established

% Young people achieving level 2  - Education Strategic Plan - DH 90 To be 
established

To be 
established

% Attendance in High School  - Education Strategic Plan- DH 96 To be 
established

To be 
established

% of high risk pupils having a post 16 plan in place  prior to leaving school  100% 100% 100%

Priority 2   NEETS 

% of young people who become NEET (end of Year 11) 1.03% 1% 0.8%

% of young people who progress into Further Education (end of Year 11) 89% 90% 90%

% young people taking up Apprenticeships  (yr 11 leavers) 1.7 2% 2.2%

% churn figure  - via Careers Wales Data Hub, establish baseline figures (Post 
16)

Establish a 
baseline

-1% -1%

Priority 3 - Employability 

% Youth Unemployment  (16-24yrs) 19% 18.5% 18%

% Economic inactive (16-24yrs excluding students) 14% 13.5% 13%

%  young people progressing into higher education Establish 
Baseline

+1% +1%

Priority 4 – Vulnerable Groups
% of children looked after (CLA) who become NEET (16-24yrs) in county Establish -1% -1%

P
age 72



Baseline
% of children looked after (CLA) who become NEET (16-24yrs) out of county Establish 

Baseline
-1% -1%

Additional Local Measurers Targets

% identified as at risk of NEET (Pre 16 / EI Toolkit) 1.5% 1% 1%
% of young people identified as NEET closed to support with a positive 
destinations (Post 16 Lead Worker Support 16-24yrs)

Establish 
Baseline

+2% +2%

% of young people identified as NEET and closed to support and/or refusing 
support (Post 16 Lead Worker Support 16-24yrs)

Establish 
Baseline

-1% -1%

9 Mapping of measures of success   

It is important that all stakeholders understand not only the outcomes that need to be achieved but of how the range of NEETs 
Outcomes contributes to a number of identified population measures. The contribution to these population measures will not be 
made by all services but more often by a range of services contributing to multi agency partnerships. The Merthyr Tydfil Priority 
Measures that will be reported on are at a population level and are able to be benchmarked against other local authorities in 
Wales as identified below. These measures directly contribute to the national well being indicators and the seven well being goals 
for Wales. Some of these population measures are corporate priorities and are therefore reported and monitored through the 
Corporate Plan:   

P
age 73



These measures will be further underpinned by a range of local measures some of which may be particular to groups of services, 
where applicable these will be brought together to analyse performance trends on a borough wide basis and benchmarked against 
other local authorities where possible.  These measures have been mapped against the priorities of both the corporate plan and 
the single integrated plans priority areas but most are not considered critical to these plans and generally therefore are not 
reported through these existing mechanisms except for some participation measures. 

 Additional Local Measures  Corporate Single Seven Core  Well being Well being 

Merthyr Tydfil    Priority 
Measures

Corporate
Plan

Single 
Integrated 
Plan 

Seven Core 
Aims 

 Well being 
Indicator 

Well being 
Goals 

Priority 1
% Young people achieving level 2 inclusive  CP-PA1 SP-P1 5 1,3,4,6
% Young people achieving level 2  CP-PA1 SP-P1 5 1,3,4,6
% Attendance in High School CP-PA1 SP-P1 5 1,3,4,6
% of high risk pupils having a post 16 plan in 
place  prior to leaving school  

CP-PA2 SP-P2 7 1,3,4,5

Priority 2
% of young people who become NEET (end 
of Year 11) 

CP-PA2 SP-P2 7 1,3,4,5

% of young people who progress into Further 
Education (end of Year 11)

CP-PA1 SP-P1 5,6 1,3,4,6

% young people taking up Apprenticeships CP-PA2 SP-P2 5,6 1,3,4,6
% churn figure  - via Careers Wales Data 
Hub, establish baseline figures (Post 16)

CP-PA2 SP-P2 7 1,3,4,5

Priority 3
% Youth Unemployment  (16-24yrs) CP-PA2 SP-P2 7 1,3,4,5
% Economic inactive (16-24yrs) CP-PA2 SP-P2 7 1,3,4,5
%  young people progressing into higher 
education 

CP-PA2 SP-P2 5,6 1,3,4,6

Priority 4
% of children looked after (CLA) who become 
NEET (16-24yrs) in county 

CP-PA6 SP-P6 7 1,3,4,5

% of children looked after (CLA) who become 
NEET (16-24yrs) out of county

CP-PA6 SP-P6 7 1,3,4,5

P
age 74



Plan Integrated 
Plan 

Aims Indicator Goals 

Attainment 
% identified as at risk of NEET                             
(Pre 16 / Early Identification Toolkit)

CP-PA2 SP-P2 7 1,3,4,5

% of young people identified as NEET closed 
to support with a positive destinations                
(Post 16 Lead Worker Support 16-24yrs)

CP-PA2 SP-P2 6 1,3,4,

% of young people identified as NEET and 
closed to support and/or refusing support  
(Post 16 Lead Worker Support 16-24yrs)

CP-PA2 SP-P2 7 1,3,4,5

Employment 
% of young people remaining in education post 
16

CP-PA1 SP-P1 6 1,3,4,

% of young people taking up apprenticeships CP-PA2 SP-P2 5,6 1,3,4,6

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Communities First Update report 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To update elected members and colleagues on the phasing out of the Communities 
First programme across Merthyr Tydfil.  The update focuses on the progress of the 
critical recommendations made in previous reports to Cabinet.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 Scrutiny notes and debates the contents of this report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Scrutiny has requested an update report be brought forward to consider the progress 
made on the phasing out of the programme.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 Elected members will be aware of the 2016 announcement by the Minister Carl 
Sergeant.  In a follow up statement on 14th February 2017, the Cabinet Secretary for 
Communities and Children announced the phasing out of the Communities First 
programme during 2017/18. 

4.2 In March 2017 and in response to the Cabinet Secretary’s announcement a report 
was presented to cabinet outlining the road map over the phasing out process 
through a series of key recommendations.  These recommendations were as follows: 

Date Written 28th November 2017
Report Author Chris Hole
Service Area Community Wellbeing
Committee Date 12th December 2017

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



1. To fund the redundancy costs from CF resource provided the financial 
assessment is satisfactory and remuneration is in line with WG guidance. 

2. A fixed resource being held by the LA to meet redundancy costs during 2017/18, 
except where management boards of the organisations have written to the 
authority accepting liability for these costs.

3. Service delivery remains largely unchanged during the April to June period and 
that a further report is brought to council in May or June 2017 detailing the 
phased closure proposals for 2017/18.

4. A collaborative community involvement consultation plan is implemented across 
the LA to establish community priorities for future funding to inform Legacy 
arrangements, Community Facilities, and Employability programmes.

5. A ‘Legacy’ report is brought to Cabinet by July 2017 proposing continuation 
programmes and legacy arrangements post March 2018. 

6. A review of community facilities in partnership with estates and that a report is 
brought forward to agree priority buildings for future investment through the 
Community Facilities Programme.

7. A report being brought forward on the employability funding to ensure that the 
resource is utilised effectively within the community and does not duplicate 
existing services.

 
4.3 Elected Members will be aware that the closing down of the Communities First 

Programme means a significant loss of resources both financial and human to the 
community.  Table 1 below identifies the resources that were available to each 
cluster for the 2017/18 financial year which is in stark contrast to the £1.8million 
which was available to the programme in 2015/16.   

Table 1 North Mid South

2015/16 budget 732,821 585,039 570,675

2017/18 funding level 
(70%)

512,975 409,527 399,472

Projected redundancy 
liabilities  held centrally

102,754 62,132 34,314

Total available for 
delivery 2017/18  

410,221
(44.02% cut)

347,395
(39.13% cut)

365,158
(37.58% cut)

100% Costs April – 
June 

155,176 122,353 92,526

Premises costs 2017/18
July – April

29,526 17,100 26,572

Available delivery 
Budget July – April 

225,519 207,942 246,060

Staff Employed 15.4 FTE 11.2 FTE 8.67 FTE
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 Recommendations 1, 2 and 3.  Each of the commissioned organisations completed 
their first tranche of redundancies at the end of June and are currently delivering the 
remaining six months of the programme.  This will mean the organisations having to 
again instigate redundancy procedures with remaining Communities First funded 
posts over the next few months.  The council is continuing to centrally hold the 

Page 78



resource to fund these remaining redundancies with monthly budget updates having 
to be provided to Welsh Government. 

5.2 One of the commissioned organisations is being required to attend an employment 
tribunal after a challenge by its employees.  Welsh Government and ourselves are 
aware of the situation and are monitoring this closely due to the guidance regarding 
eligibility of redundancy payments. 

“LDBs may consider providing financial support from the 2017/18 funding allocations 
for statutory redundancy costs to third sector organisations which may have a viable 
future without Communities First funding, save as a result of one-off statutory 
redundancy payments arising in connection with the closure of the programme”.   

5.3 Redundancy processes are currently being instigated within the Communities First 
central teams, however it is expected that this can be mitigated through the 
redeployment process.  Therefore there should not be any financial implications to 
the Local Authority through this process. 

5.4 The current programme of delivery is attached as Appendix 1 for the three clusters.   

5.5 Recommendation 4 and 5.  In preparing for the future closure of the programme 
and the new Legacy (£377,000) arrangements a community consultation was 
instigated.  This was a requirement of Welsh Government as well as the requirement 
to utilise the Wellbeing Assessment information in order to inform the priorities for the 
legacy funding.  A report was submitted to Cabinet on 22nd November outlining the 
outcomes of that consultation.  Also included were independent submissions from 2 
of the 3 existing Communities First delivery organisations.  Cabinet agreed to 
support 6 initiatives in total and to service specifications being drawn up with each of 
these providers where appropriate.  Recent discussions with WG have identified we 
will need to undertake an application process to WG to secure the Legacy funding 
and that this guidance is imminent. 

5.6 Recommendation 6.  One of the concerns from Welsh Government as the 
Communities First programme ends is the viability of facilities in the community. 
Therefore an assessment of facilities has been undertaken and the strategically 
important facilities to the community identified.  In tandem with this Cabinet have 
agreed to a cross directorate group being made responsible for assessing 
applications and gaining council approval to the Community Facilities Fund 
application where organisations want the Local Authorities support as a partner to 
their application.

5.7 In agreeing these facilities and in having the ability to influence future developments 
the council can begin to consider  how with partners ‘community hubs’  are 
developed, integrating services in the community and  reducing  costs for all 
involved.  A key element of the Community Facilities grant is to ensure future 
sustainability of premises and therefore reducing running costs through energy 
reduction or income generation would be a high priority. 

5.8 Recommendation 7.  Having agreed not to progress the Early Adopter approach 
through the existing Communities First resources both Community Wellbeing and 
Economic Regeneration have been liaising with Welsh Government in an attempt to 
secure additional resources.  However to date this has not been successful despite 

Page 79



positive negotiations with WG.  Guidance has now been issued by WG on the 
application process for the resources from April 2018.  The application process will 
be taken forward by Economic Development through the Tackling Poverty Strategic 
group to ensure this does not duplicate existing programmes. 

5.9 Funding Flexibilities.  Welsh Government has decided to combine a number of 
programmes of grant funding into a single Early Intervention and Prevention grant.  
As one of the pathway programmes Merthyr Tydfil will be working with WG on the 
future shaping and processes relating to this grant.  It is unclear at present how this 
will impact on the  grants involved  which at present are known to be the: Legacy 
Fund, Employability, Flying Start, Families First, Supporting People, Out of School 
childcare, homelessness prevention with possibly the St David’s Day fund and the 
independent living grant also being included.  It has been strongly suggested that 
this single grant may be reduced for the 2019/20 financial year.  

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 By April 2018  we will need to have: 

 Gained approval from Welsh Government on the Legacy application.
 Gained approval from Welsh Government on the Employability application. 
 Communities First central team redeployed.
 Contracts in place with identified organisations for legacy arrangements.
 All financial transactions including redundancy payments, invoices and data 

collection having been received and processed from existing community delivery 
organisations.

 End of year monitoring report submitted to Welsh Government.
 A coherent process in place for the authority to sign up to partner applications to 

the Community Facilities programme.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Organisations are in the process of being informed in writing regarding the Legacy 
decisions which will then enable the department to instigate discussions for the 
development of service specifications. 

7.2 A closing down timetable will be issued throughout Communities First outlining 
deadlines for key work to be completed by the delivery organisations.  Within the 
central team this will include ensuring appropriate archiving procedures are 
undertaken in order to satisfy any future audit requirements for this grant. 

7.3 Once the guidance is released by Welsh Government we will be required to 
complete an application for the Legacy funding on behalf of the authority.

7.4 It is anticipated that Economic Development have already begun to develop the 
application for the Employability grant however in light of the guidance issued this 
needs to be achieved in partnership. 

7.5 In partnership with Economic Development establish the cross authority group  and 
process for assessing the Community Facilities applications in order to present the 
one known application to Cabinet for approval. 

Page 80



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 The content of this report cuts across the poverty agenda and contributes to the best 
start to life agenda through supporting children and young people’s learning as well 
as the working life agenda for employment support. 

8.2 However the development of a more strategic approach across our communities will 
have benefits for a number of services both in terms of financial and in relation to 
connectivity for clients’ needs. The development of more multi agency hubs with 
better integrated services will enable the community is able to access information, 
advice and services on a range of issues affecting them. 

LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Cabinet reports Various Community Wellbeing

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 81



Communities First North Cluster July – April 18

Theme Project Status  Date of Closure 
CAB  Financial Capability  
1:2:1 Advice Service and 
Managing your Money

Strategic  programmes 
funded separately by WG  

April 18 

Physical Activity programme 
Forsythia 

Youth reducing risks

Will  be brought together 
to form  multi activity 
delivery around young 
people’s personal and 
social, emotional and 
educational  development

 April 2018 

Physical Activity Programme 
Engine House
Engine House Encouraging 
healthy Eating
Dowlais Engine House Risky 
Behaviour
Youth mental wellbeing 
programme

Will  be brought together 
to form  multi activity 
delivery around young 
people’s personal and 
social, emotional and 
educational  development

April 2018 

Street Games (door step 
sports)

Strategic  programmes 
funded separately by WG  

April 18

Communities First Mid Cluster  July-April 18

Theme Project Status  Date of Closure 
Supporting Child 
development 

Reduce  -Will form part of 
early years offer non FS 

April 18

Baby & Toddler group Reduce  -Will form part of 
early years offer non FS

April 18

Youth Horizons Continued April 18 

Learning 

Food Poverty Reduce  -Will form part of 
community health offer 

April 18

CAB  Financial Capability  
1:2:1 Advice Service and 
Managing your Money

Strategic  programmes 
funded separately by WG  

April 18 

Street Games (door step 
sports)

Strategic  programmes 
funded by WG  

April 18

Physical Literacy and weight 
management 

Reduce  -Will form part of 
community health offer

April 18

Community Nutrition projects Reduce  -Will form part of 
community health offer

April 18

Healthy older age Reduce  -Will form part of 
community health offer

April 18

Vocational Volunteering New- work experience etc. April 18

Appendix 1

Page 82



Communities First South Cluster  July – April 2018

Theme Project Status  Date of Closure 
Young Parents support Continue Feb 18
Early Language 
Development

Continue Feb 18

Homework Club Afon Taff Continue Dec 17 
Child Support Programme Continue Dec 17 
Pupil Support Programme Continue Dec 17 
Education Family Project Continue Dec 17 
Parents support Programme Continue Dec 17 
Learning in the Community Continue Dec 17 

Learning 

Basic Skills Continue Dec 17 
Community Career Club Continue Dec 17 
Employment Progression Continue Dec 17 
Youth Career Club Continue Dec 17 
Basic Skills ITC Continue Dec 17 
Business Support Continue Dec 17
Money Matters Strategic  

programmes funded 
separately by WG  

April 18

Financial Management Strategic  
programmes funded 
separately by WG  

April 18

Prosperous 

Improving Financial 
Capability 

Strategic  
programmes funded 
separately by WG  

April 18

Schools Transition Continue Feb 18
Playing Together Continue Feb 18
Physical Activity Schools Continue Dec 17 
Healthier Lifestyles (Adults) Continue Dec 17 
Peer Support Mental well 
being 

Continue Dec 17 

Peer Support Mental well 
being schools

Continue Dec 17 

 Food & Nutrition Schools Continue Dec 17 
Food & Nutrition Adults Continue Dec 17 

Health 

Substance Misuse support Continue Dec 17 
Street Games (door step 
sports)

Strategic  
programmes funded 
separately by WG  

April 18

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 

prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 
 
1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee notes the content of this report 
 
2.2 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 

deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.  

 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 

and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions. 
 

Date Written 30th November 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Legal & Governance Services 
Committee Division Scrutiny  
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 12th December 2017 

Page 85

Agenda Item 11



Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities? 
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc 

 
Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 

Page 86



will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 

and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 

You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act) 
 
3.3 The Act applied the wellbeing duty on local authorities. This duty means this Council 

has to work towards its wellbeing goals and is required to publish its Statement of 
Wellbeing, which sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community over the 
next five years.  

 
The Authority’s “wellbeing objectives” seek to secure sustained improvements in the 
economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and 
work in Merthyr Tydfil, now and in the future. The focus is on supporting people when 
they need it most and equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives. 

 
 In brief, the wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil cover four main groups: 
 

Best Start to Life (Reported to Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee) 
• BS1 Children get the best start to life.  
• BS2 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be 

successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

Working Life (Reported to Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee) 
• WL1 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the 

future.  
• WL2 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish. 

 
 
Environmental Wellbeing (Reported to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny 
Committee) 

• EW1 Communities protect - enhance and promote our natural environment 
and countryside  

• EW2 Communities protect - develop and promote our heritage and cultural 
assets. 

 
Living Well (reported to Social Services Scrutiny Committee) 

• LW1 Developing safer communities.  
• LW2 People have good physical and mental wellbeing.  
• LW3 People live independently. 

 

Page 87



3.4 The Act places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the “sustainable development 
principle” when setting wellbeing objectives, and in taking steps to meet those 
objectives.  

 
Any reference to a public body doing something “in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle” means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
In the Act, the sustainable development principle is exemplified by the five ways of 
working i.e. there are five things that public bodies need to think about to show that 
they have applied the sustainable development principle. Following these ways of 
working will help us work together better, avoid repeating past mistakes and tackle 
some of the long term challenges we are facing. These “5 things” (ways of working) 
are shown below:- 

 
1. Long term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 

safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs (taking account of both 
short term and long term needs when making decisions.)  

 
2. Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may 

help public bodies meet their objectives (stop problems happening or getting 
worse) 

 
3. Integration - Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 

impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies (making sure that the objectives set by the 
council contribute to the wellbeing goals and there is an understanding of how 
they impact on other organisations work to meet the goals). There needs to be 
connections within the council, between departments, between cabinet 
members Who else within this organisation do we need to talk to ; to avoid 
wasted effort, duplication. What other pieces of legislation may affect, inform, 
impinge upon what we are seeking to address? 

 
4. Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 

parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives (working  with people inside and outside the council to meet your 
objectives when working towards the goals). 

 
5. Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in 

achieving the wellbeing goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves (make sure that everyone who has 
an interest or expertise in or is affected by achieving the goals are involved or 
represented). 

 
3.5  Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the wellbeing 

objectives and each scrutiny committee will be receiving regular performance reports 
on these areas. See appendix I which provides further details on this Authority’s 
wellbeing objectives. 

 

Page 88



3.6 Scrutinising under the Act. The Act says that we have to dramatically change the 
way we do things. Not changing what we do but changing the way that we do it. This 
is difficult as many public sector organisations are entrenched in their approaches, in 
their activities and in their attitudes. In all scrutiny work members will need to 
consider the Act! 

 
1. Applying the principles of the Act -  Scrutiny committees will have a 

responsibility to ensure that the principles of the Act are applied to policy and 
decision making in Merthyr 

 
2. Contributing to the setting of the Wellbeing Objectives and the Well Being 

statement. 
 
3. Monitoring progress against the Objectives and seeing if they are being 

met.  
 
4. Scrutiny of the PSB  - strategic and focussed on the work of the PSB as a 

whole (not its constituent members) either an existing scrutiny committee or a 
new one 

 
5. By ensuring that the ways of working are followed in Merthyr Tydfil when 

undertaking  
 
− Pre-decision scrutiny (involvement of community in the decision making 

process?);  
− Policy development (how will this policy impact in people in 2030,40,50 

years?);  
− Performance monitoring (are there problems that can be prevented? 

Could performance be improved if we work with someone else?); and 
− Investigative scrutiny (work with people who have an interest in the 

subject). 
 

3.7 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
 

28th June 2017 MTCBC Internet 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 89

http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/s36089/Committee%20Report.pdf


BS Best Start to Life

4. BS 1: Children get the best start to life3

Children, have a positive early experience to ensure they are ready to learn, ready for 
school and have good life chances.

4.1. What happens to children in their earliest years is key to outcomes in adult life.  This is 
now supported by a wide range of research evidence from education, health, justice and 
economic experts.  This wellbeing objective is about giving our children the best start in 
life, to set them off on a path that leads to positive outcomes later in life.

4.2. Improving early years support is also crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse 
childhood experiences, which we know have a detrimental impact on future health and 
wellbeing.  We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old.  This broad definition of early 
years recognises the importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and that the 
transition into primary school is a critical period in children’s lives.

4.3. Parents and carers have a crucial role in creating a home environment that nurtures early 
development and addresses barriers to learning that particularly affect less advantaged 
children and young people.  Parents in Merthyr Tydfil recognise they have a shared 
responsibility with schools to help their children develop skills, but a lack of confidence in 
their abilities can prevent some from doing so.

4.4. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
wellbeing needs of young children.  Such needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass play, learning, social relationships and emotional, physical and mental 
wellbeing.  While this approach is important for all children, it will particularly benefit 
children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of poor outcomes later in life.  The key 
components to support positive development in the early years include:

 Children having a nurturing and stimulating home environment
 Children having access to high quality pre-school and school education
 Helping mothers to have good maternal health
 Helping parents and carers with literacy and numeracy to enhance their ability to 

support their children’s learning

4.5. The risks of poorer outcomes for children and families are strongly correlated to 
underlying factors, mainly poverty and lack of parental skills and knowledge as well as 
education.  Wider stresses on parents and families such as substance misuse, debt, poor 
housing and lack of employment can also affect the quality of early years' experience and 
therefore impact on development.

3 This wellbeing objective recognises the right of all young children to high quality relationships, environments and 
services and will contribute strongly to promoting and upholding children’s rights as defined by the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).

Page 90

jonesh1
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_1
Typewritten Text
                    APPENDIX I

jonesh1_2
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

4.6. The best start to life has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address 
these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 91

jonesh1_3
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

5. BS 2: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners and confident individuals

Children and young people, develop the knowledge, skills and attributes they will need to 
flourish in life, learning and work.

5.1. This objective is the next step on from the early years and continues the principle of 
valuing the wider benefits that learning can bring to the individual, to society and 
communities and to the economy.  It is part of a framework to show how all the constituent 
parts of our education and learning systems can contribute to giving Merthyr Tydfil a skills 
base that will improve economic, cultural, social and environmental wellbeing.

5.2. A young person’s education, from the early years through their compulsory education, lays 
the foundations of skills for life and work.  What they learn and the skills they acquire will 
help them improve their own lives.  Education has become one of the clearest indicators 
of life outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and wellbeing.

5.3. Wellbeing is strongly linked to attainment.  Research evidence shows that there is value 
for schools to promote health and wellbeing among pupils.  This can range from effective 
social and emotional competencies, the culture ethos and environment of a school and 
opportunities for pupils to be physically active.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are 
more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better academically.

5.4. This wellbeing objective has at its core the promotion of equality of opportunity.  Equipping 
children and young people with the skills they need includes the following key 
components:

 Schools equipping pupils with high levels of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills
 Schools equipping pupils with social and emotional skills
 Schools supporting physical activity of pupils
 Youth services involving young people and enhancing their knowledge and skills

5.5. This objective has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address the 
wider factors that influence family life:

 Children get the best start to life
 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 92



WL Working Life

6. WL 1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce 
of the future

Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and 
productive use of these skills; where our employers, demand, value and make best use of 
their workforce's skills.

6.1. "Too often, people's experiences of trying to get out of poverty tell a story of barriers and 
traps, rather than routes out"4.  This echoes the challenges experienced by unemployed 
people in Cwm Taf, who spoke of insufficient employment opportunities and numerous 
barriers to employment, particularly the lack of useful support or guidance.

6.2. A key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help people develop their resources (skills, 
knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they experience so they can become the 
workforce of the future.  The focus of this wellbeing objective will be on the work we do 
within our communities to improve their skill level of the workforce.

6.3. Research shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to be 
in relatively low income and people who are not in employment with no qualification are 
more likely to be economically inactive.  This is important because a comparatively high 
proportion of people in Merthyr Tydfil do not have any qualifications; we need to improve 
employability skills for those without jobs.  The key components to support the 
development of the future workforce include:

 People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers' changing 

needs

6.4. The risk of poorer outcomes for people with low or no skills are strongly linked with the 
likelihood they are in lower paid work; experiencing in-work poverty and having lower 
resilience when dealing with issues or problems.  Evidence also shows poorer mental and 
physical health outcomes are often experienced by those with low or no skills.

6.5. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives 
which address these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life

4 JRF (2016) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2016, Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Page 93



WL Working Life

7. WL 2: Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses 
to flourish

Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the 
built environment and strengthens the natural environment.

7.1. The built and natural environment can have a strong effect on people's behaviour and 
opportunities and a significant impact on their wellbeing, particularly by where they live 
and work.  The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do in our communities to 
develop the environment and infrastructure that allows the growth of communities and a 
resilient local economy.

7.2. There is evidence to suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality 
local services are important to create conditions that are attractive to business investors, 
visitors and local residents alike.  Development that is sustainable can help build 
resilience and capacity in adapting to climate change, ensuring town centres and 
communities are attractive, viable and better protected.

7.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to environmental and 
infrastructure development needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Such needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include renewable and low carbon energy, sustainable transport, diverse 
housing, education, retail, green infrastructure including biodiverse open spaces.  Access 
to high quality local services, amenities and safer communities can attract inward 
investment, increase visitor spend and help grow the local economy.  The key 
components to support the development of the environment and infrastructure include:

 People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options
 Parents and carers having flexible childcare options
 Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy
 Strengthening and diversifying the rural economy

7.4. Flooding and extreme weather events which damage assets and disrupt business 
operations pose the greatest risk to Welsh businesses now and in the future.  Evidence 
shows that high quality, sustainable and inclusive design can mitigate the predicted 
effects of climate change.

7.5. Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

Page 94



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8. EW 1: Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside5

People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in good 
quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, learning new 
skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish.

8.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because research 
shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple benefits for 
people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat protection and 
enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental health.

8.2. How we act toward the natural environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a 
sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the benefits of improving our natural 
environment will be felt across all of our wellbeing objectives.  We define the natural 
environment and countryside as all greenspace within the local authority boundary.  This 
broad definition of the natural environment and countryside recognises its importance of 
nature in both rural and urban environments.

8.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 
resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 
is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 
are key environmental issues or risks.  The key components for communities to protect, 
enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside include:

 Integration of landscape protection, management and planning
 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy
 Developing good quality and connected green infrastructure and open spaces

8.4. A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a 
lower resilience to environmental risks.  As the environment is an underlying factor and 
influencer to many other wellbeing objectives, the risks presented by degraded 
environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and 
cultural perspectives.

5 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 requires the Council to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
promote the resilience of ecosystems taking into account diversity between and within ecosystems; the 
connections between and within ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems (including 
their structure and functioning) and the adaptability of ecosystems.

Page 95



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8.5. Communities protect, enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside has 
to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives to address these underlying factors, 
particularly:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 96



EW Environmental Wellbeing

9. EW 2: Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets

Celebrating success, valuing our heritage, culture and language will strengthen our 
identity for future generations.

9.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to use existing community assets to deliver wealth 
and health benefits for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  There is a strong argument to 
suggest valuing our heritage, culture and language can bring improvements to the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities.  

9.2. The distinctiveness of Merthyr Tydfil has been shaped by our industrial past and the 
different communities who make Merthyr Tydfil their home.  How we work with these 
communities will be a critical factor in delivering on the vast potential that Merthyr Tydfil’s 
heritage and cultural assets offer us.

9.3. When local people talk about culture, it is often described as an opportunity for 
celebration.  Where this culture is celebrated varies from historic buildings brought back 
into use such as the Redhouse, Soar and Dowlais Engine House to modern venues such 
as the many rugby clubs, community centres and the refurbished Merthyr Tydfil football 
club.  The regeneration of the town centre has provided an additional asset for hosting 
cultural activities that brings people together including Merthyr Rising, Merthyr by the sea, 
Awesome Chilli Festival.

9.4. Cyfarthfa Park was regularly referred to as something good in the community during our 
engagement activities.  How people use the park varies from walking, foraging, fishing and 
landscape painting to attending events such as open air theatre, concerts and firework 
displays.  Whatever the use, the impact on people’s sense of wellbeing was commonly 
endorsed. 

9.5. Community groups that bring people together were also acknowledged as something 
good by those taking part in our engagement activities.  There was a sense that the 
tradition of community groups was enjoying resurgence as the focus on wellbeing 
develops.  Making social connections with other people is directly correlated with 
improvements in physical and mental wellbeing and can help combat the growth in social 
isolation and loneliness experienced by many different people living in the community.

9.6. Using our landscape and history to encourage people to be more physically active is a 
great way to improve wellbeing.  Cyfarthfa provides the backdrop for the annual Wales 
Valleys Walking Festival, which showcases Merthyr Tydfil’s history and natural beauty 
combined with walking.

9.7. In addition to health and wellbeing benefits our heritage and culture can help bolster the 
prosperity of the county borough by attracting visitors and tourists which supports inward 
investment, provides employment and offers opportunities to develop new skills.  In 

Page 97



EW Environmental Wellbeing

addition research shows that being able to speak, read and write Welsh can be an 
advantage for people seeking a job in Wales.

9.8. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the cultural 
wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass tourism, destination management, conservation and preservation of assets 
and language, local events and community participation.  The key components for 
communities to protect, develop and promote our heritage and culture include:

 Supporting existing community facilities and community led developments
 Supporting suitable tourism, leisure and recreation developments
 Promoting cultural and social activities within our communities
 Promoting the use of the Welsh language

9.9. Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Developing safer communities

Page 98



LW Living Well

10. LW 1: Developing safer communities

People, living in connected communities, feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

10.1. Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 
quality of life, often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in their 
neighbourhood or not.  There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Where healthier and happier people are more likely to positively contribute to 
their communities and society.

10.2. Community safety covers many aspects of life; however, there is no commonly agreed 
definition of community safety or clarity on the range of services and activities that 
contribute to its delivery.  We define safer communities from a social perspective as 
communities that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime.  This 
definition allows us to focus on the social aspects of safety that adversely affect the quality 
of life and wellbeing of people.

10.3. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do to develop safer communities, 
including keeping our children and adults safe and free from harm, creating a place where 
people value their neighbours and community.  The key components for developing safer 
communities include:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol
 Tackling violence against women and girls
 Offender management (young people through to adults)
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Community cohesion

10.4. Developing safer communities will need to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives, 
particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental wellbeing
 People live independently

10.5. In the wider environmental context of safe communities, our wellbeing objectives provide a 
focus on the elements needed for people and communities to develop and maintain a 
clean and biodiverse environment, well lit, free from graffiti, litter and fly-tipping:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside

Page 99



LW Living Well

11. LW 2: People have good physical and mental health

People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in their life, are heathier, feel good and 
function well.

11.1. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them, 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health is 
incontrovertible.  Either one will have effects on the other.  Poor physical health can lead 
to poor mental health and the other way round.  Just as good physical health can improve 
our state of mind, a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our ability to cope with 
physical ailments.

11.2. Research shows that levels of subjective wellbeing vary across the life course, dipping in 
the mid teenage years, at midlife, and again among the oldest of the old.  The perception 
of general health remains one of the strongest predictors of subjective wellbeing in adults 
and people who are physically active are more likely to have improved general and mental 
health.  

11.3. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates nature provides added value to the 
known benefits of physical activity.  Locally people have told us they have a strong 
association between the outdoors and wellbeing.  However, people also shared their 
concerns on the quality, accessibility and awareness of greenspace, in both urban areas 
and the wider countryside.

11.4. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to motivate and support people and communities 
to develop positive physical and mental health behaviours.  Adopting these behaviours 
early in life will help us to ensure long term and sustainable benefits for the physical and 
mental wellbeing needs of the people in Merthyr Tydfil. 

11.5. To ensure a holistic approach to meeting this objective, physical and mental health needs 
should be interpreted broadly and encompass the family and neighbourhood, school and 
teenage years, having a good job, home and positive social relationships.  The key 
components for people have good physical and mental wellbeing include:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences
 Increasing levels of physical activity

11.6. People have good physical and mental health has to work alongside all other wellbeing 
objectives.

Page 100



LW Living Well

12. LW 3: People live independently6

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

12.1. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required to 
promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community.  

12.2. For disabled people (of all ages) this objective is about removing the barriers that prevent 
the full participation in all aspects of society and promoting the rights and full inclusion of 
disabled people.  Research evidence from the Office of Disability Issues suggests that 
independent living provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than 
conventional forms of service provision.  At service delivery level, benefits include the 
reduced costs in the delivery of independent support mechanisms.

12.3. For older people this objective is about addressing the care and support needs required to 
remain in their own homes, and developing local capacity within communities so people 
can connect with others and become more involved in community and public life.  There is 
evidence that older people living locally wish to remain living in their homes as long as 
possible.  Alongside tangible benefits in promoting wellbeing linked to choice and control 
and other aspects of maximising independent living for older people, there is also a 
lessening reliance on institutional forms of service provision leading to reduced costs.

12.4. Our engagement with people locally which has identified key factors to support people to 
live independently include:

 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home
 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people with 

protected characteristics

12.5. Ensuring that people can live independent lives for longer requires wider societal changes 
to create the necessary conditions to ensure the success of this objective.  To create 
these changes, people to live independently has to work alongside our other wellbeing 
objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

6 This wellbeing objective contributes to the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD), 
which includes Article 19: the right to independent living.

Page 101



LW Living Well

 Developing safer communities

12.6. In the wider context of people living independent lives our other wellbeing objectives focus 
on the elements needed for people and communities to become more self-sufficient 
particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future

Page 102



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton                     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Jones   PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Carys Kennedy 

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Thomas     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Anderton    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

PROJECT LEADS:       CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Cheryllee Evans     PROJECT LEADS: 

- Sarah Bowen (Education)    PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS:        -  Paul Lewis (Licensing & Trading Standards) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Deb Ryan-Newton (Employability Service)     -  Steve Thomas (Environmental Services)    -  Ryan Evans  (Community Safety)  

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services)     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     -  Mick Campbell (Property & Estates    -  Julie Beck  (Safer Merthyr Tydfil) 

- Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)            -  Susan Gow (Environmental Health)    - Gary Black (RCT County Borough Council) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS              OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      OTHER CONTRIBUTORS 

       -       John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)             -  Paul Jones (Environmental Services)    -  Sarah Bowen (Education) 

      -      Steve Peters (Public Protection)             -  Paul Davies (Environmental Services)    -  Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services) 

 

                  

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

                        WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Judith Jones 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton    PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Peters   WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Annabel Lloyd     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Chris Hole    PROJECT LEADS:  

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      -  John Sellwood (Corporate Services) 

PROJECT LEAD      PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS   

- Sue Walker (Education):     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     - Chris Long (Community Regeneration) 

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Service)    -  Cheryl Jones (Rights of Way)      - Zoe Thomas  (Physical Regeneration) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)     - Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)  

- Sarah Bowen (Education)     -  Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)     - Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities)  PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

- John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)   OTHER CONTRIBUTORS       OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Anthony Lewis 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      -  Sarah Bowen  (Education)      - Sarah Bowen (Education)     CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

       -       Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)   -  Judith Jones (Planning)       - Ryan Barry (Tourism & Social Enterprise)   PROJECT LEADS 

               -  Lisa Williams-Clement (Highways & Engineering)            -  Angela Edevane (Adult Services) 

                 -  Suzanne Lewis-Abbott (Supporting People)  

                         -  Gareth Kedward (MIA) 

                                        -   Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      

  -  Steve Peters (Public Protection) 

 

 

 

 

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD WELLBEING PLAN 

 

Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 

 

BEST START 
 

WORKING LIFE 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 

 

LIVING WELL 

 

BEST START 1: 

Children have the best start to life 

 

BEST START 2: 

Children and young people are equipped with 

the skills they need to be successful learners and 

confident individuals 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO LEARNING & 

LAESCYP SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

All objectives present an update report to the Governance Scrutiny Committee once annually 

 

WORKING LIFE 1: 

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 

Workforce of the Future 

 

WORKING LIFE 2: 

Developing the environment and infrastructure for 

business to flourish 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 1: 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our 

natural environment and countryside 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 2: 

Communities protect, develop and promote our 

heritage and cultural assets 

 

LIVING WELL 1: 

Developing safer communities 

 

LIVING WELL 2: 

People have good Physical and Mental Health 

 

LIVING WELL 3: 

People live independently 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, PLANNING & 

COUNTRSYIDE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Version 1 (November 2017) 

P
age 103



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

 
Committee 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 
Member 

Scrutiny Focus  

25th July 2017 

Welsh Community 
Care Information 
System (WCCIS) 

 

Lisa Curtis Jones / Anne 
Powell 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  A new computer system is being 
introduced in Wales to help health and social care 
professionals work together to provide care closer to people’s 
homes. It gives community nurses, mental health teams, social 
workers and therapists the digital tools they need to work 
better together. The committee to receive an update on the 
system and how it is being imbedded at MTCBC. 

Children’s Services 
Strategy Update 

Annabelle Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Children’s Services will 
provide an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s 
Social Services 

CSSIW Annual Letter Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To advise members of CSSIW Annual 
letter.  The CSSIW undertake an annual evaluation and review 
of Local Authority social services and provide overall 
judgements on key areas of progress and areas for 
improvement. 
 

Develop the Annual 
Scrutiny Work 

Programme 

Full Committee The Committee to develop work programme for 2017/18. 

 
19th September 2017 

Wellbeing Objective 
Living Well (LW1) 

 
Item withdrawn 

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 

P
age 104



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

Annual Report 
(ACRF) 

LCJ, AL, MA, LM Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Annual Council Reporting Framework. 
The Director of Social Services annual statutory report to 
Welsh Government 
 

Adult Services Strategy 
Update 

(item withdrawn) 

Mark Anderton Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Adult Services will provide 
an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s Social 
Services 
 

Merthyr Tydfil Youth 
Offending Team (YOT) 

LCJ, AL, Jason O’Brien 
(RCTCBC) 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To discuss the CSSIW Inspection 
report.  The YOT is a multi-agency team which is made up of 
members of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, 
Substance Misuse and Social Services, as well as others specific 
to the team. The YOT deals with young people between the 
ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice 
system, and those who are just on the periphery of becoming 
involved in the system. 
 

7th November 2017 

Wellbeing Objective 
Living Well (LW2) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

Wellbeing Objective 
Living Well (LW1) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

P
age 105



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

Looked After Children 
Strategy Update 

Annabel Lloyd/ Cllr David 
Hughes 

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on 
progress implementing the LAC strategy and the associated 
risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking a reduction 
in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years 
 

CTSAB/CTSCB Annual 
Reports  

Nicola Kingham and 
officers and  Cllr David 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   These separate reports summarises 
the work undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve 
its objectives during the year. They also summarise the areas 
of development identified. 
 

Community Zone Lisa Curtis Jones / Chris 
Hole 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   Community Zones is a place based 
approach focussing support to improve outcomes for residents 
with the greatest challenges.  The Committee requires an 
update i.e. how the zones are progressing; what challenges are 
being faced; and what performance indicators have been 
developed.  
 

12th December 2017 

Wellbeing Objective 
Living Well (LW3) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 
appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current 
position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to 
discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our 
wellbeing objectives. 
 

Regional Adoption 
Annual Report 

AL/ Angela Harris & Rachel 
Evans (Vale of Glamorgan 

Monitoring & Scrutiny: An update  and some early 
performance information  in relation to our regional adoption 
collaborative  
 

P
age 106



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

Communities First Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge: - Communities First is a community 
focussed tackling poverty programme, which is being phased 
out by March 2018. An update is required on outstanding 
projects and how the Authority and Partners are winding up 
the programme. 

Social Services 
Caseloads (Children’s 

Services) 

Annabelle Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Committee has asked the Head of 
Children’s Services for a report about Social Worker caseloads. 

NEETS Strategy 2018 -
2021 

 
(report in 12/12 file) 

Chris Hole Scrutiny & Challenge: To Inform the Scrutiny Committee of the 
Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy (2018-21) 
and the progress that has been made against this agenda in 
line with the previous strategy.  The NEETS Strategy identifies 
some critical areas to be progressed if the authority is to 
continue its progress 
 

23rd January 2018 

Wellbeing Objective 
Living Well (LW1) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

Cwm Taff Integrated 
Family Support Team 

Annual report. 

AL/  Goulding, Jay (RCT) 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- An Annual Report on progress within 
the Cwm Taf IFST and the wider implementation. 
 

Adult Services Strategy 
Update 

(Moved from 19th 
September) 

Mark Anderton Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Adult Services will provide 
an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s Social 
Services 
 

P
age 107



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

27th February 2018 

Wellbeing Objective 
Living Well (LW2) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

Budget update Stacey Evans/LCJ/Cllr 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Update on budget and looking at areas 
that may overspend. 
 

Cwm Taf Strategy and 
Action Plan for 

Violence against 
Women, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual 

Violence 
(email AL 14/11) 

 

A Lloyd/LCJ/Cllr Hughes / 
Deborah Evans 

(de@smt.org.uk) / Steve 
Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - to comment and challenge on the 
strategy and associated action plan. 
 

10th April 2018 

Wellbeing Objective 
Living Well (LW3) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

CTSAB/CTSCB Annual 
Plans  

Nicola Kingham Scrutiny & Challenge:-  These separate reports summarises 
the work undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve 
its objectives. They also summarise the areas of development 
identified. 
 
 

P
age 108

mailto:de@smt.org.uk


Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

Merthyr Tydfil Youth 
Offending Team (YOT) 

LCJ, AL, Jason O’Brien 
(RCTCBC) 

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge:-  This item was discussed at 
the 19th September 2017 meeting. To discuss the CSSIW 
Inspection report action plan.  The Committee requires a 
report providing details of the work done to address the action 
plan as shown to the Committee at the 19th September 
meeting. To monitor progress.  
 
The YOT is a multi-agency team which is made up of members 
of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, Substance Misuse 
and Social Services, as well as others specific to the team. The 
YOT deals with young people between the ages of 10 and 18 
who are involved in the criminal justice system, and those who 
are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system. 
 

For consideration on 
work programme - To 
be confirmed 

Refugee Settlement in 
Merthyr Tydfil 

SP/LCJ 
To be confirmed 

Syrian refugee settlement programme. The Committee has 
learned of a family that had settled in Merthyr Tydfil as part of 
the programme but due to issues with the property that was 
allocated to them (private rented), the family eventually left 
Merthyr Tydfil to resettle in London. The committee wish to 
set up a T&F Group to review matters to see what lessons 
were learned and would the Authority take the same approach 
in future. (see email SP 21/4/17) 
 

Recommendations 
made by external 
regulators (WAO, 

CSSIW, ESTYN, WG 
Commissioners etc.).  

Review of 
Corporate 
Safeguarding 
Arrangements in 
Welsh Councils 
(July 2015) 
and included in MTCBC 
Annual Improvement 
report 2015/16 (July 2016) 

Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: R6 Improve accountability 
for corporate safeguarding by regularly reporting safeguarding 
issues and assurances to scrutiny committee(s) against a 
balanced and council-wide set of performance information 
covering: • benchmarking and comparisons with others; • 
conclusions of internal and external audit/inspection reviews; 
• service-based performance data; • key personnel data such 
as safeguarding training, and DBS recruitment checks; and • 
the performance of contractors and commissioned services on 

P
age 109

https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf


Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

 
 

compliance with council safeguarding responsibilities. 
 

Community Zone Chris Hole Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: A Children’s Zone is a place 
based approach, bringing together different organisations to 
improve outcomes for children and young people. The aim is 
that through a shared strategic vision, long-term sustainable 
reductions are achieved in the inequalities experienced by 
children in disadvantaged communities when compared to 
those in more socially advantaged areas.  

P
age 110


	Agenda
	3 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Service Annual Report
	VVC Annual Report 1 April 2016- 31 March 2017 (Final -approved by RE)
	Appendix 1 VVC Annual Report 2016-17

	4 Wellbeing Objective Living Well (LW3) - People Live Independently
	5 Caseloads - Children's Services
	6 NEETS Strategy 2018 -2021
	7 Communities First Update report
	11 Forward Work Programme
	Work Programme Report 2017 18
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	APPENDIX I Statement of Wellbeing July 2017
	5 Social Services




